# Electronic structure methods

# Contents

# Articles

Dverview	1
Electron configuration	1
Iethods	9
Tight binding	9
Nearly free electron model	18
Hartree–Fock method	22
Modern valence bond	28
Generalized valence bond	30
Møller–Plesset perturbation theory	31
Configuration interaction	35
Coupled cluster	37
Multi-configurational self-consistent field	42
Density functional theory	45
Quantum chemistry composite methods	53
Quantum Monte Carlo	57
K·p perturbation theory	60
Muffin-tin approximation	63
LCAO method	64

# References

Article Sources and Contributors	67
Image Sources, Licenses and Contributors	68

# Article Licenses

License	69
---------	----

# Overview

# **Electron configuration**

In atomic physics and quantum chemistry, the **electron configuration** is the distribution of electrons of an atom or molecule (or other physical structure) in atomic or molecular orbitals. For example, the electron configuration of the neon atom is  $1s^2 2s^2 2p^6$ .

Electronic configurations describe electrons as each moving independently in an orbital, in an average field created by all other orbitals. Mathematically, configurations are described by Slater determinants or configuration state functions.

According to the laws of quantum mechanics, for systems with only one electron, an energy is associated with each electron configuration and, upon certain conditions, electrons are able to move from one configuration to another by emission or absorption of a quantum of energy, in the form of a photon.

For atoms or molecules with more than one electron, the motion of electrons are correlated and such a picture is no longer exact. A very large number of electronic configurations are needed to exactly describe any multi-electron





system, and no energy can be associated with one single configuration. However, the electronic wave function is usually dominated by a very small number of configurations and therefore the notion of electronic configuration remains essential for multi-electron systems.

Electronic configuration of polyatomic molecules can change without absorption or emission of photon through vibronic couplings.

Knowledge of the electron configuration of different atoms is useful in understanding the structure of the periodic table of elements. The concept is also useful for describing the chemical bonds that hold atoms together. In bulk

materials this same idea helps explain the peculiar properties of lasers and semiconductors.

### Shells and subshells

	s (0=0)	p ([]=1)					
	m=0	m=0	m=0 m=±1				
	S	<i>p</i> <sub>z</sub>	p <sub>x</sub>	p <sub>y</sub>			
n=1	•						
n=2	•	-					

Electron configuration was first conceived of under the Bohr model of the atom, and it is still common to speak of shells and subshells despite the advances in understanding of the quantum-mechanical nature of electrons.

An electron shell is the set of allowed states electrons may occupy which share the same principal quantum number, n (the number before the letter in the orbital label). An atom's nth electron shell can accommodate  $2n^2$  electrons, e.g. the first shell can accommodate 2 electrons, the second shell 8 electrons, and the third shell 18 electrons. The factor of two arises because the allowed states are doubled due to electron spin—each atomic orbital admits up to two otherwise identical electrons with opposite spin, one with a spin +1/2 (usually noted by an up-arrow) and one with a spin -1/2 (with a down-arrow).

A subshell is the set of states defined by a common azimuthal quantum number,  $\ell$ , within a shell. The values  $\ell = 0, 1, 2, 3$  correspond to the *s*, *p*, *d*, and *f* labels, respectively. The maximum number of electrons which can be placed in a subshell is given by  $2(2\ell + 1)$ . This gives two electrons in an s subshell, six electrons in a p subshell, ten electrons in a d subshell and fourteen electrons in an f subshell.

The numbers of electrons that can occupy each shell and each subshell arise from the equations of quantum mechanics,<sup>[1]</sup> in particular the Pauli exclusion principle, which states that no two electrons in the same atom can have the same values of the four quantum numbers.

### Notation

Physicists and chemists use a standard notation to indicate the electron configurations of atoms and molecules. For atoms, the notation consists of a sequence of atomic orbital labels (e.g. for phosphorus the sequence 1s, 2s, 2p, 3s, 3p) with the number of electrons assigned to each orbital (or set of orbitals sharing the same label) placed as a superscript. For example, hydrogen has one electron in the s-orbital of the first shell, so its configuration is written  $1s^1$ . Lithium has two electrons in the 1s-subshell and one in the (higher-energy) 2s-subshell, so its configuration is written  $1s^2 2s^1$  (pronounced "one-s-two, two-s-one"). Phosphorus (atomic number 15) is as follows:  $1s^2 2s^2 2p^6 3s^2 3p^3$ .

For atoms with many electrons, this notation can become lengthy and so an abbreviated notation is used, since all but the last few subshells are identical to those of one or another of the noble gases. Phosphorus, for instance, differs from neon  $(1s^2 2s^2 2p^6)$  only by the presence of a third shell. Thus, the electron configuration of neon is pulled out, and phosphorus is written as follows: [Ne]  $3s^2 3p^3$ . This convention is useful as it is the electrons in the outermost shell which most determine the chemistry of the element.

The order of writing the orbitals is not completely fixed: some sources group all orbitals with the same value of *n* together, while other sources (as here) follow the order given by Madelung's rule. Hence the electron configuration of iron can be written as [Ar]  $3d^6 4s^2$  (keeping the 3d-electrons with the 3s- and 3p-electrons which are implied by the configuration of argon) or as [Ar]  $4s^2 3d^6$  (following the Aufbau principle, see below).

The superscript 1 for a singly occupied orbital is not compulsory. It is quite common to see the letters of the orbital labels (s, p, d, f) written in an italic or slanting typeface, although the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) recommends a normal typeface (as used here). The choice of letters originates from a now-obsolete system of categorizing spectral lines as "sharp", "principal", "diffuse" and "fundamental" (or "fine"), based on their observed fine structure: their modern usage indicates orbitals with an azimuthal quantum number, *l*, of 0, 1, 2 or 3 respectively. After "f", the sequence continues alphabetically "g", "h", "i"... (l = 4, 5, 6...), skipping "j", although orbitals of these types are rarely required.

The electron configurations of molecules are written in a similar way, except that molecular orbital labels are used instead of atomic orbital labels (see below).

### Energy — ground state and excited states

The energy associated to an electron is that of its orbital. The energy of a configuration is often approximated as the sum of the energy of each electron, neglecting the electron-electron interactions. The configuration that corresponds to the lowest electronic energy is called the ground state. Any other configuration is an excited state.

As an example, the ground state configuration of the sodium atom is  $1s^22s^22p^63s$ , as deduced from the Aufbau principle (see below). The first excited state is obtained by promoting a 3s electron to the 3p orbital, to obtain the  $1s^22s^22p^63p$  configuration, abbreviated as the 3p level. Atoms can move from one configuration to another by absorbing or emitting energy. In a sodium-vapor lamp for example, sodium atoms are excited to the 3p level by an electrical discharge, and return to the ground state by emitting yellow light of wavelength 589 nm.

Usually the excitation of valence electrons (such as 3s for sodium) involves energies corresponding to photons of visible or ultraviolet light. The excitation of core electrons is possible, but requires much higher energies generally corresponding to x-ray photons. This would be the case for example to excite a 2p electron to the 3s level and form the excited  $1s^22s^22p^53s^2$  configuration.

The remainder of this article deals only with the ground-state configuration, often referred to as "the" configuration of an atom or molecule.

### History

Niels Bohr (1923) was the first to propose that the periodicity in the properties of the elements might be explained by the electronic structure of the atom. His proposals were based on the then current Bohr model of the atom, in which the electron shells were orbits at a fixed distance from the nucleus. Bohr's original configurations would seem strange to a present-day chemist: sulfur was given as 2.4.4.6 instead of  $1s^2 2s^2 2p^6 3s^2 3p^4$  (2.8.6).

The following year, E. C. Stoner incorporated Sommerfeld's third quantum number into the description of electron shells, and correctly predicted the shell structure of sulfur to be 2.8.6. However neither Bohr's system nor Stoner's could correctly describe the changes in atomic spectra in a magnetic field (the Zeeman effect).

Bohr was well aware of this shortcoming (and others), and had written to his friend Wolfgang Pauli to ask for his help in saving quantum theory (the system now known as "old quantum theory"). Pauli realized that the Zeeman effect must be due only to the outermost electrons of the atom, and was able to reproduce Stoner's shell structure, but with the correct structure of subshells, by his inclusion of a fourth quantum number and his exclusion principle (1925):<sup>[2]</sup>

It should be forbidden for more than one electron with the same value of the main quantum number n to have the same value for the other three quantum numbers k [1], j [ $m_1$ ] and m [ $m_s$ ].

The Schrödinger equation, published in 1926, gave three of the four quantum numbers as a direct consequence of its solution for the hydrogen atom: this solution yields the atomic orbitals which are shown today in textbooks of chemistry (and above). The examination of atomic spectra allowed the electron configurations of atoms to be determined experimentally, and led to an empirical rule (known as Madelung's rule (1936), see below) for the order

in which atomic orbitals are filled with electrons.

### Aufbau principle and Madelung rule

The Aufbau principle (from the German *Aufbau*, "building up, construction") was an important part of Bohr's original concept of electron configuration. It may be stated as:

a maximum of two electrons are put into orbitals in the order of increasing orbital energy: the lowest-energy orbitals are filled before electrons are placed in higher-energy orbitals.

The principle works very well (for the ground states of the atoms) for the first 18 elements, then decreasingly well for the following 100 elements. The modern form of the Aufbau principle describes an order of orbital energies given by Madelung's rule (or Klechkowski's rule). This rule was first stated by Charles Janet in 1929. rediscovered by Erwin Madelung in 1936, and later given a theoretical justification by V.M. Klechkowski





2. Where two orbitals have the same value of n+l, they are filled in order of increasing n.

This gives the following order for filling the orbitals:

1s, 2s, 2p, 3s, 3p, 4s, 3d, 4p, 5s, 4d, 5p, 6s, 4f, 5d, 6p, 7s, 5f, 6d, 7p, (8s, 5g, 6f, 7d, 8p, and 9s)

In this list the orbitals in parentheses are not occupied in the ground state of the heaviest atom now known (Uuo, Z = 118).

The Aufbau principle can be applied, in a modified form, to the protons and neutrons in the atomic nucleus, as in the shell model of nuclear physics and nuclear chemistry.

#### **Periodic table**

The form of the periodic table is closely related to the electron configuration of the atoms of the elements. For example, all the elements of group 2 have an electron configuration of [E]  $ns^2$  (where [E] is an inert gas configuration), and have notable similarities in their chemical properties. In general, the periodicity of the periodic table in terms of periodic table blocks is clearly due to the number of electrons (2, 6, 10, 14...) needed to fill s, p, d, and f subshells.

The outermost electron shell is often referred to as the "valence shell" and (to a first approximation) determines the



chemical properties. It should be remembered that the similarities in the chemical properties were remarked more than a century before the idea of electron configuration.<sup>[3]</sup> It is not clear how far Madelung's rule *explains* (rather than simply describes) the periodic table, although some properties (such as the common +2 oxidation state in the first row of the transition metals) would obviously be different with a different order of orbital filling.

#### Shortcomings of the Aufbau principle

The Aufbau principle rests on a fundamental postulate that the order of orbital energies is fixed, both for a given element and between different elements; neither of these is true (although they are approximately true enough for the principle to be useful). It considers atomic orbitals as "boxes" of fixed energy into which can be placed two electrons and no more. However the energy of an electron "in" an atomic orbital depends on the energies of all the other electrons of the atom (or ion, or molecule, etc.). There are no "one-electron solutions" for systems of more than one electron, only a set of many-electron solutions which cannot be calculated exactly<sup>[4]</sup> (although there are mathematical approximations available, such as the Hartree–Fock method).

The fact that the Aufbau principle is based on an approximation can be seen from the fact that there is an almost-fixed filling order at all, that, within a given shell, the s-orbital is always filled before the p-orbitals. In a hydrogen-like atom, which only has one electron, the s-orbital and the p-orbitals of the same shell have exactly the same energy, to a very good approximation in the absence of external electromagnetic fields. (However, in a real hydrogen atom, the energy levels are slightly split by the magnetic field of the nucleus, and by the quantum electrodynamic effects of the Lamb shift).

#### **Ionization of the transition metals**

The naive application of the Aufbau principle leads to a well-known paradox (or apparent paradox) in the basic chemistry of the transition metals. Potassium and calcium appear in the periodic table before the transition metals, and have electron configurations [Ar]  $4s^1$  and [Ar]  $4s^2$  respectively, i.e. the 4s-orbital is filled before the 3d-orbital. This is in line with Madelung's rule, as the 4s-orbital has n+l = 4 (n = 4, l = 0) while the 3d-orbital has n+l = 5 (n = 3, l = 2). However, chromium and copper have electron configurations [Ar]  $3d^5 4s^1$  and [Ar]  $3d^{10} 4s^1$  respectively, i.e. one electron has passed from the 4s-orbital to a 3d-orbital to generate a half-filled or filled subshell. In this case, the usual explanation is that "half-filled or completely filled subshells are particularly stable arrangements of electrons".

The apparent paradox arises when electrons are *removed* from the transition metal atoms to form ions. The first electrons to be ionized come not from the 3d-orbital, as one would expect if it were "higher in energy", but from the 4s-orbital. The same is true when chemical compounds are formed. Chromium hexacarbonyl can be described as a chromium atom (not ion, it is in the oxidation state 0) surrounded by six carbon monoxide ligands: it is diamagnetic, and the electron configuration of the central chromium atom is described as  $3d^6$ , i.e. the electron which was in the 4s-orbital in the free atom has passed into a 3d-orbital on forming the compound. This interchange of electrons between 4s and 3d is universal among the first series of the transition metals.<sup>[5]</sup>

The phenomenon is only paradoxical if it is assumed that the energies of atomic orbitals are fixed and unaffected by the presence of electrons in other orbitals. If that were the case, the 3d-orbital would have the same energy as the 3p-orbital, as it does in hydrogen, yet it clearly doesn't. There is no special reason why the  $Fe^{2+}$  ion should have the same electron configuration as the chromium atom, given that iron has two more protons in its nucleus than chromium and that the chemistry of the two species is very different. When care is taken to compare "like with like", the paradox disappears.

### Other exceptions to Madelung's rule

There are several more exceptions to Madelung's rule among the heavier elements, and it is more and more difficult to resort to simple explanations such as the stability of half-filled subshells. It is possible to predict most of the exceptions by Hartree–Fock calculations, which are an approximate method for taking account of the effect of the other electrons on orbital energies. For the heavier elements, it is also necessary to take account of the effects of Special Relativity on the energies of the atomic orbitals, as the inner-shell electrons are moving at speeds approaching the speed of light. In general, these relativistic effects tend to decrease the energy of the s-orbitals in relation to the other atomic orbitals.

]	Perio	od 4	Р	erio	d 5	Period 6		Period 7			
Element	Z	Electron Configuration	Element	Z	Electron Configuration	Element	Z	Electron Configuration	Element	Z	Electron Configuration
	I					Lanthanum	57	$[Xe] 6s^2 \frac{5d^1}{5d^1}$	Actinium	89	$[Rn] 7s^2 \frac{6d^1}{6d^1}$
						Cerium	58	[Xe] 6s2 4f1 5d <sup>1</sup>	Thorium	90	$[Rn] 7s^2 \frac{6d^2}{6d^2}$
						Praseodymium	59	[Xe] 6s2 4f3	Protactinium	91	[Rn] 7s2 5f2 6d <sup>1</sup>
						Neodymium	60	[Xe] 6s2 4f4	Uranium	92	[Rn] 7s2 5f3 6d <sup>1</sup>
						Promethium	61	[Xe] 6s2 4f5	Neptunium	93	[Rn] 7s2 5f4 6d1
						Samarium	62	$[Xe] 6s^2 4f^6$	Plutonium	94	$[Rn] 7s^2 5f^6$
						Europium	63	$[Xe] 6s^2 4f^7$	Americium	95	$[Rn] 7s^2 5f^7$
						Gadolinium	64	[Xe] 6s2 4f7 5d <sup>1</sup>	Curium	96	[Rn] 7s2 5f7 $6d1$
						Terbium	65	[Xe] 6s2 4f9	Berkelium	97	$[Rn] 7s^2 5f^9$
Scandium	21	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^1$	Yttrium	39	$[Kr] 5s^2 4d^1$	Lutetium	71	[Xe] $6s^2 4f^{14}$ $5d^1$	Lawrencium	103	[Rn] $7s^2 5f^{14}$ $7p^1$
Titanium	22	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^2$	Zirconium	40	$[Kr] 5s^2 4d^2$	Hafnium	72	[Xe] $6s^2 4f^{14}$ $5d^2$	Rutherfordium	104	[Rn] $7s^2 5f^{14}$ $6d^2$
Vanadium	23	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^3$	Niobium	41	$[\mathrm{Kr}] 5\mathrm{s}^{1} 4\mathrm{d}^{4}$	Tantalum	73	[Xe] $6s^2 4f^{14}$ $5d^3$		1	
Chromium	24	$[Ar] 4s^1 3d^5$	Molybdenum	42	$[\mathrm{Kr}] 5\mathrm{s}^{1} 4\mathrm{d}^{5}$	Tungsten	74	[Xe] $6s^2 4f^{14}$ $5d^4$			
Manganese	25	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^5$	Technetium	43	[Kr] 5s <sup>2</sup> 4d <sup>5</sup>	Rhenium	75	[Xe] 6s <sup>2</sup> 4f <sup>14</sup> 5d <sup>5</sup>			
Iron	26	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^6$	Ruthenium	44	$[\mathrm{Kr}] 5\mathrm{s}^{1} 4\mathrm{d}^{7}$	Osmium	76	[Xe] $6s^2 4f^{14}$ $5d^6$			
Cobalt	27	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^7$	Rhodium	45	$[\mathrm{Kr}]  \mathrm{5s}^1  \mathrm{4d}^8$	Iridium	77	[Xe] $6s^2 4f^{14}$ $5d^7$			

### Electron shells filled in violation of Madelung's rule (red)

Nickel	28	[Ar] 4s2 3d8 or [Ar] 4s1 3d9 (disputed)	Palladium	46	[Kr] 4d <sup>10</sup>	Platinum	78	[Xe] 6s <sup>1</sup> 4f <sup>14</sup> 5d <sup>9</sup>
Copper	29	$[Ar] 4s^1 3d^{10}$	Silver	47	[Kr] 5s <sup>1</sup> 4d <sup>10</sup>	Gold	79	[Xe] 6s <sup>1</sup> 4f <sup>14</sup> 5d <sup>10</sup>
Zinc	30	$[Ar] 4s^2 3d^{10}$	Cadmium	48	[Kr] 5s <sup>2</sup> 4d <sup>10</sup>	Mercury	80	[Xe] 6s <sup>2</sup> 4f <sup>14</sup> 5d <sup>10</sup>

The electron-shell configuration of elements beyond rutherfordium has not yet been empirically verified, but they are expected to follow Madelung's rule without exceptions until element 120.

# **Electron configuration in molecules**

In molecules, the situation becomes more complex, as each molecule has a different orbital structure. The molecular orbitals are labelled according to their symmetry,<sup>[6]</sup> rather than the atomic orbital labels used for atoms and monoatomic ions: hence, the electron configuration of the dioxygen molecule,  $O_2$ , is  $1\sigma_g^2 1\sigma_u^2 2\sigma_g^2 2\sigma_u^2 1\pi_u^4 3\sigma_g^2 1\pi_g^2$ . The term  $1\pi_g^2$  represents the two electrons in the two degenerate  $\pi^*$ -orbitals (antibonding). From Hund's rules, these electrons have parallel spins in the ground state, and so dioxygen has a net magnetic moment (it is paramagnetic). The explanation of the paramagnetism of dioxygen was a major success for molecular orbital theory.

### **Electron configuration in solids**

In a solid, the electron states become very numerous. They cease to be discrete, and effectively blend into continuous ranges of possible states (an electron band). The notion of electron configuration ceases to be relevant, and yields to band theory.

# Applications

The most widespread application of electron configurations is in the rationalization of chemical properties, in both inorganic and organic chemistry. In effect, electron configurations, along with some simplified form of molecular orbital theory, have become the modern equivalent of the valence concept, describing the number and type of chemical bonds that an atom can be expected to form.

This approach is taken further in computational chemistry, which typically attempts to make quantitative estimates of chemical properties. For many years, most such calculations relied upon the "linear combination of atomic orbitals" (LCAO) approximation, using an ever larger and more complex basis set of atomic orbitals as the starting point. The last step in such a calculation is the assignment of electrons among the molecular orbitals according to the Aufbau principle. Not all methods in calculational chemistry rely on electron configuration: density functional theory (DFT) is an important example of a method which discards the model.

A fundamental application of electron configurations is in the interpretation of atomic spectra. In this case, it is necessary to convert the electron configuration into one or more term symbols, which describe the different energy levels available to an atom. Term symbols can be calculated for any electron configuration, not just the ground-state configuration listed in tables, although not all the energy levels are observed in practice. It is through the analysis of atomic spectra that the ground-state electron configurations of the elements were experimentally determined.

# Notes

- [1] In formal terms, the quantum numbers *n*,  $\square$  and *m* arise from the fact that the solutions to the time-independent Schrödinger equation for hydrogen-like atoms are based on spherical harmonics.
- [2] English translation from
- [3] The similarities in chemical properties and the numerical relationship between the atomic weights of calcium, strontium and barium was first noted by Johann Wolfgang Döbereiner in 1817.
- [4] Electrons are identical particles, a fact which is sometimes referred to as "indistinguishability of electrons". A one-electron solution to a many-electron system would imply that the electrons could be distinguished from one another, and there is strong experimental evidence that they can't be. The exact solution of a many-electron system is a *n*-body problem with n ≥ 3 (the nucleus counts as one of the "bodies"): such problems have evaded analytical solution since at least the time of Euler.
- [5] There are some cases in the second and third series where the electron remains in an s-orbital.
- [6] The labels are written in lowercase to indicate that the correspond to one-electron functions. They are numbered consecutively for each symmetry type (irreducible representation in the character table of the point group for the molecule), starting from the orbital of lowest energy for that type.

# References

- Jolly, William L. (1991). *Modern Inorganic Chemistry* (2nd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill. pp. 1–23. ISBN 0-07-112651-1.
- Scerri, Eric (2007). *The Periodic System, Its Story and Its Significance*. New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-530573-6.

# **External links**

• What does an atom look like? Configuration in 3D (http://www.hydrogenlab.de/elektronium/HTML/ einleitung\_hauptseite\_uk.html)

# Methods

# **Tight binding**

Electronic structure methods
Valence bond theory
Generalized valence bond
Modern valence bond
Molecular orbital theory
Hartree–Fock method
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory
Configuration interaction
Coupled cluster
Multi-configurational self-consistent
field
Quantum chemistry composite methods
Quantum Monte Carlo
Linear combination of atomic orbitals
Electronic band structure
Nearly free electron model
Tight binding
Muffin-tin approximation
Density functional theory
$k \cdot p$ perturbation theory
Empty lattice approximation
🞯 Book
<b>model</b> (or <b>TB model</b> ) is an approx

In solid-state physics, the **tight-binding model** (or **TB model**) is an approach to the calculation of electronic band structure using an approximate set of wave functions based upon superposition of wave functions for isolated atoms located at each atomic site. The method is closely related to the LCAO method used in chemistry. Tight-binding models are applied to a wide variety of solids. The model gives good qualitative results in many cases and can be combined with other models that give better results where the tight-binding model fails. Though the tight-binding model is a one-electron model, the model also provides a basis for more advanced calculations like the calculation of surface states and application to various kinds of many-body problem and quasiparticle calculations.

# Introduction

The name "tight binding" of this electronic band structure model suggests that this quantum mechanical model describes the properties of tightly bound electrons in solids. The electrons in this model should be tightly bound to the atom to which they belong and they should have limited interaction with states and potentials on surrounding atoms of the solid. As a result the wave function of the electron will be rather similar to the atomic orbital of the free atom to which it belongs. The energy of the electron will also be rather close to the ionization energy of the electron in the free atom or ion because the interaction with potentials and states on neighboring atoms is limited.

Though the mathematical formulation of the one-particle tight-binding Hamiltonian may look complicated at first glance, the model is not complicated at all and can be understood intuitively quite easily. There are only three kinds of elements that play a significant role in the theory. Two of those three kinds of elements should be close to zero and can often be neglected. The most important elements in the model are the interatomic matrix elements, which would simply be called the bond energies by a chemist.

In general there are a number of atomic energy levels and atomic orbitals involved in the model. This can lead to complicated band structures because the orbitals belong to different point-group representations. The reciprocal lattice and the Brillouin zone often belong to a different space group than the crystal of the solid. High-symmetry points in the Brillouin zone belong to different point-group representations. When simple systems like the lattices of elements or simple compounds are studied it is often not very difficult to calculate eigenstates in high-symmetry points analytically. So the tight-binding model can provide nice examples for those who want to learn more about group theory.

The tight-binding model has a long history and has been applied in many ways and with many different purposes and different outcomes. The model doesn't stand on its own. Parts of the model can be filled in or extended by other kinds of calculations and models like the nearly-free electron model. The model itself, or parts of it, can serve as the basis for other calculations. In the study of conductive polymers, organic semiconductors and molecular electronics, for example, tight-binding-like models are applied in which the role of the atoms in the original concept is replaced by the molecular orbitals of conjugated systems and where the interatomic matrix elements are replaced by inter- or intramolecular hopping and tunneling parameters. These conductors nearly all have very anisotropic properties and sometimes are almost perfectly one-dimensional.

### **Historical background**

By 1928, the idea of a molecular orbital had been advanced by Robert Mulliken, who was influenced considerably by the work of Friedrich Hund. The LCAO method for approximating molecular orbitals was introduced in 1928 by B. N. Finklestein and G. E. Horowitz, while the LCAO method for solids was developed by Felix Bloch, as part of his doctoral dissertation in 1928, concurrently with and independent of the LCAO-MO approach. A much simpler interpolation scheme for approximating the electronic band structure, especially for the d-bands of transition metals, is the parameterized tight-binding method conceived in 1954 by John Clarke Slater and George Fred Koster, sometimes referred to as the SK tight-binding method. With the SK tight-binding method, electronic band structure calculations on a solid need not be carried out with full rigor as in the original Bloch's theorem but, rather, first-principles calculations are carried out only at high-symmetry points and the band structure is interpolated over the remainder of the Brillouin zone between these points.

In this approach, interactions between different atomic sites are considered as perturbations. There exist several kinds of interactions we must consider. The crystal Hamiltonian is only approximately a sum of atomic Hamiltonians located at different sites and atomic wave functions overlap adjacent atomic sites in the crystal, and so are not accurate representations of the exact wave function. There are further explanations in the next section with some mathematical expressions.

Recently, in the research about strongly correlated material, the tight binding approach is basic approximation because highly localized electrons like 3-d transition metal electrons sometimes display strongly correlated behaviors. In this case, the role of electron-electron interaction must be considered using the many-body physics description.

The tight-binding model is typically used for calculations of electronic band structure and band gaps in the static regime. However, in combination with other methods such as the random phase approximation (RPA) model, the dynamic response of systems may also be studied.

### **Mathematical formulation**

We introduce the atomic orbitals  $\varphi_m(\mathbf{r})$ , which are eigenfunctions of the Hamiltonian  $H_{at}$  of a single isolated atom. When the atom is placed in a crystal, this atomic wave function overlaps adjacent atomic sites, and so are not true eigenfunctions of the crystal Hamiltonian. The overlap is less when electrons are tightly bound, which is the source of the descriptor "tight-binding". Any corrections to the atomic potential  $\Delta U$  required to obtain the true Hamiltonian H of the system, are assumed small:

$$H(\boldsymbol{r}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{R_n}} H_{\mathrm{at}}(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{R_n}) + \Delta U(\boldsymbol{r}) \; .$$

A solution  $\psi_r$  to the time-independent single electron Schrödinger equation is then approximated as a linear combination of atomic orbitals  $\varphi_m(r - R_n)$ :

$$\psi(\boldsymbol{r}) = \sum_{m, \boldsymbol{R_n}} b_m(\boldsymbol{R_n}) \varphi_m(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{R_n}),$$

where m refers to the m-th atomic energy level and  $R_n$  locates an atomic site in the crystal lattice.

#### Translational symmetry and normalization

The Bloch theorem states that the wave function in crystal can change under translation only by a phase factor:

$$\psi(\boldsymbol{r}+\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{\ell}})=e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{\ell}}}\psi(\boldsymbol{r})\;,$$

where  $\mathbf{k}$  is the wave vector of the wave function. Consequently, the coefficients satisfy

$$\sum_{m,\boldsymbol{R_n}} b_m(\boldsymbol{R_n}) \varphi_m(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R_n} + \boldsymbol{R_\ell}) = e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R_\ell}} \sum_{m,\boldsymbol{R_n}} b_m(\boldsymbol{R_n}) \varphi_m(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R_n})$$

By substituting  $\boldsymbol{R_p} = \boldsymbol{R_n} - \boldsymbol{R_\ell}$ , we find

$$b_m(\boldsymbol{R_p}+\boldsymbol{R_\ell})=e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R_\ell}}b_m(\boldsymbol{R_p})\;,$$

or

r

$$b_m(oldsymbol{R_p}) = e^{ioldsymbol{k}m{\cdot}oldsymbol{R_p}} b_m(oldsymbol{0})$$
 .

Normalizing the wave function to unity:

$$\int d^{3}r \ \psi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r})\psi(\boldsymbol{r}) = 1$$

$$= \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{n}} b^{*}(\boldsymbol{R}_{n}) \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\ell}} b(\boldsymbol{R}_{\ell}) \int d^{3}r \ \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{n})\varphi(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\ell})$$

$$= b^{*}(0)b(0) \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{n}} e^{-i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{n}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\ell}} e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{\ell}} \int d^{3}r \ \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{n})\varphi(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\ell})$$

$$= Nb^{*}(0)b(0) \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{p}} e^{-i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{p}} \int d^{3}r \ \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{p})\varphi(\boldsymbol{r})$$

$$= Nb^{*}(0)b(0) \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{p}} e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{p}} \int d^{3}r \ \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r})\varphi(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{p}),$$

so the normalization sets b(0) as

$$b^*(0)b(0) = rac{1}{N} \cdot rac{1}{1 + \sum_{\boldsymbol{R_p} \neq \boldsymbol{0}} e^{-i\boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{R_p}} \alpha(\boldsymbol{R_p})},$$

where  $\alpha(\mathbf{R}_{p})$  are the atomic overlap integrals, which frequently are neglected resulting in<sup>[1]</sup>

$$b_n(0) pprox rac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \; ,$$

and

$$\psi(m{r})pproxrac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_{m,m{R_n}}e^{im{k}\cdotm{R_n}} arphi_m(m{r}-m{R_n}) \; .$$

#### The tight binding Hamiltonian

Using the tight binding form for the wave function, and assuming only the *m*-th atomic energy level is important for the *m*-th energy band, the Bloch energies  $\varepsilon_m$  are of the form

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_{\boldsymbol{m}} &= \int d^{3}r \; \psi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r}) H(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi(\boldsymbol{r}) \\ &= \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}} b^{*}(\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) \; \int d^{3}r \; \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) H(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi(\boldsymbol{r}) \\ &= \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{\ell}}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}} b^{*}(\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) \int d^{3}r \; \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) H_{\mathrm{at}}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{\ell}}) \psi(\boldsymbol{r}) + \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}} b^{*}(\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) \int d^{3}r \; \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) \Delta U(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi(\boldsymbol{r}) \; . \\ &\approx E_{\boldsymbol{m}} + b^{*}(0) \sum_{\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}} e^{-i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}} \; \int d^{3}r \; \varphi^{*}(\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{R}_{\boldsymbol{n}}) \Delta U(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi(\boldsymbol{r}) \; . \end{split}$$

Here terms involving the atomic Hamiltonian at sites other than where it is centered are neglected. The energy then becomes

$$\varepsilon_m(\mathbf{k}) = E_m - N |b(0)|^2 \left( \beta_m + \sum_{\mathbf{R}_n \neq 0} \sum_l \gamma_{m,l}(\mathbf{R}_n) e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{R}_n} \right) ,$$
  
=  $E_m - \frac{\beta_m + \sum_{\mathbf{R}_n \neq 0} \sum_l e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{R}_n} \gamma_{m,l}(\mathbf{R}_n)}{1 + \sum_{\mathbf{R}_n \neq 0} \sum_l e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{R}_n} \alpha_{m,l}(\mathbf{R}_n)} ,$ 

where  $E_{m}$  is the energy of the *m*-th atomic level, and  $\alpha_{m,l}$ ,  $\beta_{m}$  and  $\gamma_{m,l}$  are the tight binding matrix elements.

#### The tight binding matrix elements

The element

$$eta_m = -\int arphi_m^*(m{r}) \Delta U(m{r}) arphi_m(m{r}) \, d^3r \, ,$$

is the atomic energy shift due to the potential on neighboring atoms. This term is relatively small in most cases. If it is large it means that potentials on neighboring atoms have a large influence on the energy of the central atom.

The next term

$$\gamma_{m,l}(\boldsymbol{R_n}) = -\int arphi_m^*(oldsymbol{r}) \Delta U(oldsymbol{r}) arphi_l(oldsymbol{r}-oldsymbol{R_n}) \, d^3r \; ,$$

is the inter atomic matrix element between the atomic orbitals m and l on adjacent atoms. It is also called the bond energy or two center integral and it is the **most important element** in the tight binding model.

The last terms

$$lpha_{m,l}(oldsymbol{R_n}) = \int arphi_m^*(oldsymbol{r}) arphi_l(oldsymbol{r}-oldsymbol{R_n}) \, d^3r \, ,$$

denote the overlap integrals between the atomic orbitals m and l on adjacent atoms.

### **Evaluation of the matrix elements**

As mentioned before the values of the  $\beta_m$ -matrix elements are not so large in comparison with the ionization energy because the potentials of neighboring atoms on the central atom are limited. If  $\beta_m$  is not relatively small it means that the potential of the neighboring atom on the central atom is not small either. In that case it is an indication that the tight binding model is not a very good model for the description of the band structure for some reason. The inter atomic distances can be too small or the charges on the atoms or ions in the lattice is wrong for example.

The inter atomic matrix elements  $\gamma_{m,l}$  can be calculated directly if the atomic wave functions and the potentials are known in detail. Most often this is not the case. There are numerous ways to get parameters for these matrix elements. Parameters can be obtained from chemical bond energy data. Energies and eigenstates on some high symmetry points in the Brillouin zone can be evaluated and values integrals in the matrix elements can be matched with band structure data from other sources.

The inter atomic overlap matrix elements  $\alpha_{m,l}$  should be rather small or neglectable. If they are large it is again an indication that the tight binding model is of limited value for some purposes. Large overlap is an indication for too short inter atomic distance for example. In metals and transition metals the broad s-band or sp-band can be fitted better to an existing band structure calculation by the introduction of next-nearest-neighbor matrix elements and overlap integrals but fits like that don't yield a very useful model for the electronic wave function of a metal. Broad bands in dense materials are better described by a nearly free electron model.

The tight binding model works particularly well in cases where the band width is small and the electrons are strongly localized, like in the case of d-bands and f-bands. The model also gives good results in the case of open crystal structures, like diamond or silicon, where the number of neighbors is small. The model can easily be combined with a nearly free electron model in a hybrid NFE-TB model.

### **Connection to Wannier functions**

Bloch wave functions describe the electronic states in a periodic crystal lattice. Bloch functions can be represented as a Fourier series<sup>[2]</sup>

$$\psi_m(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) = rac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_n a_m(\mathbf{R_n},\mathbf{r})e^{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{R_n}}\;,$$

where  $R_n$  denotes an atomic site in a periodic crystal lattice, k is the wave vector of the Bloch wave, r is the electron position, m is the band index, and the sum is over all N atomic sites. The Bloch wave is an exact eigensolution for the wave function of an electron in a periodic crystal potential corresponding to an energy  $E_m(k)$ , and is spread over the entire crystal volume.

Using the Fourier transform analysis, a spatially localized wave function for the *m*-th energy band can be constructed from multiple Bloch waves:

$$a_m(\mathbf{R}_n, \mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}} e^{-\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{R}_n} \psi_m(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}} e^{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}\cdot(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{R}_n)} u_m(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r}).$$

These real space wave functions  $a_m(\mathbf{R}_n, \mathbf{r})$  are called Wannier functions, and are fairly closely localized to the atomic site  $\mathbf{R}_n$ . Of course, if we have exact Wannier functions, the exact Bloch functions can be derived using the inverse Fourier transform.

However it is not easy to calculate directly either Bloch functions or Wannier functions. An approximate approach is necessary in the calculation of electronic structures of solids. If we consider the extreme case of isolated atoms, the Wannier function would become an isolated atomic orbital. That limit suggests the choice of an atomic wave function as an approximate form for the Wannier function, the so-called tight binding approximation.

### Second quantization

Modern explanations of electronic structure like t-J model and Hubbard model are based on tight binding model. If we introduce second quantization formalism, it is clear to understand the concept of tight binding model.

Using the atomic orbital as a basis state, we can establish the second quantization Hamiltonian operator in tight binding model.

$$H=-t\sum_{\langle i,j
angle,\sigma}(c^{\dagger}_{i,\sigma}c_{j,\sigma}+h.c.)$$
 ,

 $c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}, c_{j\sigma}^{\dagger}$  - creation and annihilation operators

 $\sigma$  - spin polarization

t - hopping integral

 $\langle i, j \rangle$  -nearest neighbor index

Here, hopping integral t corresponds to the transfer integral  $\gamma$  in tight binding model. Considering extreme cases of  $t \rightarrow 0$ , it is impossible for electron to hop into neighboring sites. This case is the isolated atomic system. If the hopping term is turned on (t > 0) electrons can stay in both sites lowering their kinetic energy.

In the strongly correlated electron system, it is necessary to consider the electron-electron interaction. This term can be written in

$$H_{ee} = rac{1}{2} \sum_{n,m,\sigma} \langle n_1 m_1, n_2 m_2 | rac{e^2}{|r_1 - r_2|} | n_3 m_3, n_4 m_4 
angle c^{\dagger}_{n_1 m_1 \sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{n_2 m_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 m_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 m_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_1 m_1 \sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{n_2 m_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 m_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 m_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_1 m_1 \sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{n_2 m_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 m_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 m_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_1 \sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{n_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_1 \sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{n_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_1 \sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{n_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 \sigma_1} d\sigma_{n_2 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_3 \sigma_2} d\sigma_{n_4 \sigma_2} c_{n_4 \sigma_4} c_{n_4 \sigma_4}$$

This interaction Hamiltonian includes direct Coulomb interaction energy and exchange interaction energy between electrons. There are several novel physics induced from this electron-electron interaction energy, such as metal-insulator transitions (MIT), high-temperature superconductivity, and several quantum phase transitions.

### **Example: one-dimensional s-band**

Here the tight binding model is illustrated with a **s-band model** for a string of atoms with a single s-orbital in a straight line with spacing a and  $\sigma$  bonds between atomic sites.

To find approximate eigenstates of the Hamiltonian, we can use a linear combination of the atomic orbitals

$$|k
angle = rac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_{n=1}^{N}e^{inka}|n
angle$$

where N = total number of sites and k is a real parameter with  $-\frac{\pi}{a} \leq k \leq \frac{\pi}{a}$ . (This wave function is normalized

to unity by the leading factor  $1/\sqrt{N}$  provided overlap of atomic wave functions is ignored.) Assuming only nearest neighbor overlap, the only non-zero matrix elements of the Hamiltonian can be expressed as

$$egin{aligned} &\langle n|H|n
angle = E_0 = E_i - U \; . \ &\langle n\pm 1|H|n
angle = -\Delta \ &\langle n|n
angle = 1 \; ; \; \langle n\pm 1|n
angle = S \end{aligned}$$

The energy  $E_i$  is the ionization energy corresponding to the chosen atomic orbital and U is the energy shift of the orbital as a result of the potential of neighboring atoms. The  $\langle n \pm 1 | H | n \rangle = -\Delta$  elements, which are the Slater and Koster interatomic matrix elements, are the bond energies  $E_{i,j}$ . In this one dimensional s-band model we only have  $\sigma$ -bonds between the s-orbitals with bond energy  $E_{s,s} = V_{ss\sigma}$ . The overlap between states on neighboring atoms is S. We can derive the energy of the state  $|k\rangle$  using the above equation:

$$|H|k
angle = rac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_{n}e^{inka}H|n
angle$$

$$\langle k|H|k\rangle = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{n, \ m} e^{i(n-m)ka} \langle m|H|n\rangle \\ = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{n} \langle n|H|n\rangle + \frac{1}{N}\sum_{n} \langle n-1|H|n\rangle e^{+ika} + \frac{1}{N}\sum_{n} \langle n+1|H|n\rangle e^{-ika} + \frac{1}{$$

where, for example,

$$rac{1}{N}\sum_n \langle n|H|n
angle = E_0rac{1}{N}\sum_n 1 = E_0\;,$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n}\langle n-1|H|n\rangle e^{+ika} = -\Delta e^{ika}\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n}1 = -\Delta e^{ika} \ .\\ &\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n}\langle n-1|n\rangle e^{+ika} = Se^{ika}\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n}1 = Se^{ika} \ . \end{split}$$

Thus the energy of this state  $|k\rangle$  can be represented in the familiar form of the energy dispersion:

$$E(k) = rac{E_0 - 2\Delta \cos(ka)}{1 + 2S \cos(ka)}$$

- For k = 0 the energy is  $E = (E_0 2\Delta)/(1 + 2S)$  and the state consists of a sum of all atomic orbitals. This state can be viewed as a chain of bonding orbitals.
- For  $k = \pi/(2a)$  the energy is  $E = E_0$  and the state consists of a sum of atomic orbitals which are a factor  $e^{i\pi/2}$  out of phase. This state can be viewed as a chain of non-bonding orbitals.
- Finally for  $k = \pi/a$  the energy is  $E = (E_0 + 2\Delta)/(1 2S)$  and the state consists of an alternating sum of atomic orbitals. This state can be viewed as a chain of anti-bonding orbitals.

This example is readily extended to three dimensions, for example, to a body-centered cubic or face-centered cubic

lattice by introducing the nearest neighbor vector locations in place of simply n a. Likewise, the method can be extended to multiple bands using multiple different atomic orbitals at each site. The general formulation above shows how these extensions can be accomplished.

### Table of interatomic matrix elements

In 1954 J.C. Slater and F.G. Koster published, mainly for the calculation of transition metal d-bands, a table of interatomic matrix elements

$$E_{i,j}(ec{\mathbf{r}}_{n,n'})=\langle n,i|H|n',j
angle$$

which, with a little patience and effort, can also be derived from the cubic harmonic orbitals straightforwardly. The table expresses the matrix elements as functions of LCAO two-centre bond integrals between two cubic harmonic orbitals, *i* and *j*, on adjacent atoms. The bond integrals are for example the  $V_{ss\sigma}$ ,  $V_{pp\pi}$  and  $V_{dd\delta}$  for sigma, pi and delta bonds.

The interatomic vector is expressed as

$$ec{\mathbf{r}}_{n,n'}=(r_x,r_y,r_z)=d(l,m,n)$$

where d is the distance between the atoms and l, m and n are the direction cosines to the neighboring atom.

$$\begin{split} E_{s,s} &= V_{ss\sigma} \\ E_{s,x} &= lV_{sp\sigma} \\ E_{x,x} &= l^2 V_{pp\sigma} + (1 - l^2) V_{pp\pi} \\ E_{x,y} &= lm V_{pp\sigma} - lm V_{pp\pi} \\ E_{x,z} &= ln V_{pp\sigma} - ln V_{pp\pi} \\ E_{s,xy} &= \sqrt{3} lm V_{sd\sigma} \\ E_{s,x^2 - y^2} &= \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} (l^2 - m^2) V_{sd\sigma} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} E_{s,3z^2-r^2} &= [n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2] V_{sd\sigma} \\ E_{x,xy} &= \sqrt{3} l^2 m V_{pd\sigma} + m(1 - 2l^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,yz} &= \sqrt{3} l^m V_{pd\sigma} - 2 lm n V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,xx} &= \sqrt{3} l^n V_{pd\sigma} + n(1 - 2l^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,xx} &= \sqrt{3} l^n V_{pd\sigma} + n(1 - 2l^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} l(l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\sigma} - m(1 + l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{y,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} n(l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\sigma} - n(l + l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} n(l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\sigma} - n(l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} n(l^2 - m^2) V_{pd\sigma} - \sqrt{3} ln^2 V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,3z^2-r^2} &= l(n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2) V_{pd\sigma} - \sqrt{3} ln^2 V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{y,3z^2-r^2} &= m[n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2] V_{pd\sigma} - \sqrt{3} nn^2 V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{x,3z^2-r^2} &= n[n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2] V_{pd\sigma} + \sqrt{3} n(l^2 + m^2) V_{pd\pi} \\ E_{xy,xy} &= 3 l^2 m^2 V_{dd\sigma} + (l^2 + m^2 - 4l^2 m^2) V_{dd\pi} + (n^2 - 1) V_{dd\delta} \\ E_{xy,xx} &= 3 l^2 m V_{dd\sigma} + ln(1 - 4m^2) V_{dd\pi} + ln(l^2 - 1) V_{dd\delta} \\ E_{xy,xz} &= 3 l^2 m V_{dd\sigma} + m(1 - 4l^2) V_{dd\pi} + mn(l^2 - 1) V_{dd\delta} \\ E_{xy,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{3}{2} lm(l^2 - m^2) V_{dd\sigma} - mn[1 + 2(l^2 - m^2)] V_{dd\pi} + mn[1 + (l^2 - m^2)/2] V_{dd\delta} \\ E_{xy,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{3}{2} nl(l^2 - m^2) V_{dd\sigma} - mn[1 + 2(l^2 - m^2)] V_{dd\pi} + lm(1 + n^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \\ E_{xy,3z^2-r^2} &= \sqrt{3} \left[ lm(n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2) V_{dd\sigma} - 2 lmn^2 V_{dd\pi} + lm(1 + n^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \right] \\ E_{xy,3z^2-r^2} &= \sqrt{3} \left[ lm(n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2) V_{dd\sigma} - lm(l^2 + m^2 - n^2) V_{dd\pi} - mn(l^2 + m^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \right] \\ E_{xy,3z^2-r^2} &= \sqrt{3} \left[ lm(n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2) V_{dd\sigma} + ln(l^2 + m^2 - n^2) V_{dd\pi} - ln(l^2 + m^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \right] \\ E_{x^2-y^2,x^2-y^2} &= \frac{3}{4} (l^2 - m^2) ln^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2 lV_{dd\sigma} + ln(l^2 + m^2 - n^2) V_{dd\pi} - ln(l^2 + m^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \right] \\ \\ E_{x^2-y^2,x^2-r^2} &= \sqrt{3} \left[ ln(n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2) V_{dd\sigma} + ln(l^2 + m^2 - n^2) V_{dd\pi} - ln(l^2 + m^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \right] \\ \\ E_{x^2-y^2,x^2-r^2} &= \sqrt{3} \left[ ln(n^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2) V_{dd\sigma} + ln(l^2 + m^2 - n^2) V_{dd\pi} + (l^2 - m^2)/2 V_{dd\delta} \right] \\ \\ E_{x^2-y^2,x^2-r^2} &= \frac{3}{4} (l^2 - m^2) ln^2 - (l^2 + m^2)/2 lV_{dd\sigma} +$$

Not all interatomic matrix elements are listed explicitly. Matrix elements that are not listed in this table can be constructed by permutation of indices and cosine directions of other matrix elements in the table.

# References

- [1] As an alternative to neglecting overlap, one may choose as a basis instead of atomic orbitals a set of orbitals based upon atomic orbitals but arranged to be orthogonal to orbitals on other atomic sites, the so-called Löwdin orbitals. See
- [2] Orfried Madelung, Introduction to Solid-State Theory (Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1978).
- N. W. Ashcroft and N. D. Mermin, Solid State Physics (Thomson Learning, Toronto, 1976).
- Stephen Blundell Magnetism in Condensed Matter(Oxford, 2001).
- S.Maekawa et al. Physics of Transition Metal Oxides (Spinger-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2004).
- John Singleton Band Theory and Electronic Properties of Solids (Oxford, 2001).

# **Further reading**

- Walter Ashley Harrison (1989). *Electronic Structure and the Properties of Solids* (http://books.google.com/books?id=R2VqQgAACAAJ). Dover Publications. ISBN 0-486-66021-4.
- N. W. Ashcroft and N. D. Mermin (1976). Solid State Physics. Toronto: Thomson Learning.
- Davies, John H. (1998). *The physics of low-dimensional semiconductors: An introduction*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press. ISBN 0-521-48491-X.
- Goringe, C M; Bowler, D R; Hernández, E (1997). "Tight-binding modelling of materials". *Reports on Progress in Physics* 60 (12): 1447–1512. Bibcode: 1997RPPh...60.1447G (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1997RPPh... 60.1447G). doi: 10.1088/0034-4885/60/12/001 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/60/12/001).
- Slater, J. C.; Koster, G. F. (1954). "Simplified LCAO Method for the Periodic Potential Problem". *Physical Review* 94 (6): 1498–1524. Bibcode: 1954PhRv...94.1498S (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1954PhRv...94. 1498S). doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.94.1498 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.94.1498).

# **External links**

 Crystal-field Theory, Tight-binding Method, and Jahn-Teller Effect (http://www.cond-mat.de/events/correl12/ manuscripts/pavarini.pdf) in E. Pavarini, E. Koch, F. Anders, and M. Jarrell (eds.): Correlated Electrons: From Models to Materials, Jülich 2012, ISBN 978-3-89336-796-2

# Nearly free electron model



In solid-state physics, the **nearly free electron model** (or **NFE model**) is a quantum mechanical model of physical properties of electrons that can move almost freely through the crystal lattice of a solid. The model is closely related to the more conceptual Empty Lattice Approximation. The model enables understanding and calculating the electronic band structure of especially metals.

# Introduction

Free electrons are traveling plane waves. Generally the time independent part of their wave function is expressed as

$$\psi_{f k}({f r})=rac{1}{\sqrt{\Omega_r}}e^{i{f k}\cdot{f r}}$$

These plane wave solutions have an energy of

$$E_k = \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m}$$

The expression of the plane wave as a complex exponential function can also be written as the sum of two periodic functions which are mutually shifted a quarter of a period.

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) = rac{1}{\sqrt{\Omega_r}} \left[ \cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}) + i \sin(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}) 
ight]$$

In this light the wave function of a free electron can be viewed as an aggregate of two plane waves. Sine and cosine functions can also be expressed as sums or differences of plane waves moving in opposite directions

$$\cos(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{2}[e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} + e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}]$$

Assume that there is only one kind of atom present in the lattice and that the atoms are located at the origin of the unit cells of the lattice. The potential of the atoms is attractive and limited to a relatively small part of the volume of the unit cell of the lattice. In the remainder of the cell the potential is zero.

The Hamiltonian is expressed as

$$H = T + V$$

in which T is the kinetic and V is the potential energy. From this expression the energy expectation value, or the statistical average, of the energy of the electron can be calculated with

$$E=\langle H
angle =\int_{\Omega_{m{r}}}\psi^{*}_{m{k}}({m{r}})[T+V]\psi_{m{k}}({m{r}})d{m{r}}$$

If we assume that the electron still has a free electron plane wave wave function the energy of the electron is:

$$E_{k} = \frac{1}{\Omega_{r}} \int_{\Omega_{r}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} \left[\frac{\hbar^{2}k^{2}}{2m} + V(\mathbf{r})\right] e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} d\mathbf{r}$$

Let's assume further that at an arbitrary  $\mathbf{k}$ -point in the Brillouin zone we can integrate the  $\mathbf{r}$  over a single lattice cell, then for an arbitrary  $\mathbf{k}$ -point the energy becomes

$$E_k = rac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} + \langle V 
angle$$

This means that at an arbitrary point the energy is lowered by the lowered average of the potential in the unit cell due to the presence of the attractive potential of the atom. If the potential is very small we get the Empty Lattice Approximation. This isn't a very sensational result and it doesn't say anything about what happens when we get close to the Brillouin zone boundary. We will look at those regions in  $\mathbf{k}$ -space now.

Let's assume that we look at the problem from the origin, at position  $\mathbf{r} = 0$ . If  $\mathbf{k} = 0$  only the cosine part is present and the sine part is moved to  $\infty$ . If we let the length of the wave vector  $\mathbf{k}$  grow, then the central maximum of the cosine part stays at  $\mathbf{r} = 0$ . The first maximum and minimum of the sine part are at  $\mathbf{r} = \pm \pi/(2\mathbf{k})$ . They come nearer as  $\mathbf{k}$  grows. Let's assume that  $\mathbf{k}$  is close to the Brillouin zone boundary for the analysis in the next part of this introduction.

The atomic positions coincide with the maximum of the  $\cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component of the wave function. The interaction of the  $\cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component of the wave function with the potential will be different than the interaction of the  $\sin(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component of the wave



function with the potential because their phases are shifted. The charge density is proportional to the absolute square of the wave function. For the  $\cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component it is

$$ho^c_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) = rac{1}{2\Omega} \left[ 1 + \cos(2\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}) 
ight]$$

and for the  $\sin(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component it is

$$ho^s_{f k}({f r})=rac{1}{2\Omega}\left[1-\cos(2{f k}\cdot{f r})
ight]$$

For values of  $\mathbf{k}$  close to the Brillouin zone boundary, the length of the two waves and the period of the two different charge density distributions almost coincide with the periodic potential of the lattice. As a result the charge densities of the two components have a different energy because the maximum of the charge density of the  $\cos(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component coincides with the attractive potential of the atoms while the maximum of the charge density of the  $\sin(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ -component lies in the regions with a higher electrostatic potential between the atoms.

As a result the aggregate will be split in high and low energy components when the kinetic energy increases and the wave vector approaches the length of the reciprocal lattice vectors. The potentials of the atomic cores can be decomposed into Fourier components to meet the requirements of a description in terms of reciprocal space parameters.

### **Mathematical formulation**

The nearly free electron model is a modification of the free-electron gas model which includes a *weak* periodic perturbation meant to model the interaction between the conduction electrons and the ions in a crystalline solid. This model, like the free-electron model, does not take into account electron-electron interactions; that is, the independent-electron approximation is still in effect.

As shown by Bloch's theorem, introducing a periodic potential into the Schrödinger equation results in a wave function of the form

$$\psi_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) = u_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r})e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$$

where the function u has the same periodicity as the lattice:

$$u_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) = u_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{T})$$

(where *T* is a lattice translation vector.)

Because it is a *nearly* free electron approximation we can assume that

$$u_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) pprox rac{1}{\sqrt{\Omega_r}}$$

A solution of this form can be plugged into the Schrödinger equation, resulting in the central equation:

$$(\lambda_{\mathbf{k}} - \epsilon)C_{\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\mathbf{G}} U_{\mathbf{G}}C_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{G}} = 0$$

where the kinetic energy  $\lambda_{\mathbf{k}}$  is given by

$$\lambda_{f k}\psi_{f k}({f r})=-rac{\hbar^2}{2m}
abla^2\psi_{f k}({f r})=-rac{\hbar^2}{2m}
abla^2(u_{f k}({f r})e^{i{f k}\cdot{f r}})$$

which, after dividing by  $\psi_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r})$ , reduces to

$$\lambda_{\mathbf{k}} = \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m}$$

if we assume that  $u_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r})$  is almost constant and  $\nabla^2 u_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) \ll k^2$ .

The reciprocal parameters  $C_k$  and  $U_G$  are the Fourier coefficients of the wave function  $\psi(r)$  and the screened potential energy U(r), respectively:

$$egin{aligned} U(\mathbf{r}) &= \sum_{\mathbf{G}} U_{\mathbf{G}} e^{i \mathbf{G} \cdot \mathbf{r}} \ \psi(\mathbf{r}) &= \sum_{\mathbf{k}} C_{\mathbf{k}} e^{i \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}} \end{aligned}$$

The vectors G are the reciprocal lattice vectors, and the discrete values of k are determined by the boundary conditions of the lattice under consideration.

In any perturbation analysis, one must consider the base case to which the perturbation is applied. Here, the base case is with U(x) = 0, and therefore all the Fourier coefficients of the potential are also zero. In this case the central equation reduces to the form

$$(\lambda_{\mathbf{k}} - \epsilon)C_{\mathbf{k}} = 0$$

This identity means that for each k, one of the two following cases must hold:

1. 
$$C_{\mathbf{k}} = 0$$
,

2.  $\lambda_{\mathbf{k}} = \epsilon$ 

If the values of  $\lambda_k$  are non-degenerate, then the second case occurs for only one value of k, while for the rest, the Fourier expansion coefficient  $C_k$  must be zero. In this non-degenerate case, the standard free electron gas result is retrieved:

 $\psi_{m k} \propto e^{i {m k} \cdot {m r}}$ 

In the degenerate case, however, there will be a set of lattice vectors  $k_1, ..., k_m$  with  $\lambda_1 = ... = \lambda_m$ . When the energy  $\epsilon$  is equal to this value of  $\lambda$ , there will be *m* independent plane wave solutions of which any linear combination is also a solution:

$$\psi \propto \sum_{i=1}^m A_i e^{i {f k}_i \cdot {f r}}$$

Non-degenerate and degenerate perturbation theory can be applied in these two cases to solve for the Fourier coefficients  $C_k$  of the wavefunction (correct to first order in U) and the energy eigenvalue (correct to second order in U). An important result of this derivation is that there is no first-order shift in the energy  $\varepsilon$  in the case of no degeneracy, while there is in the case of near-degeneracy, implying that the latter case is more important in this analysis. Particularly, at the Brillouin zone boundary (or, equivalently, at any point on a Bragg plane), one finds a twofold energy degeneracy that results in a shift in energy given by:

 $\epsilon = \lambda_{\mathbf{k}} \pm |U_{\mathbf{k}}|$ 

This energy gap between Brillouin zones is known as the band gap, with a magnitude of  $2 |U_K|$  .

### Results

Introducing this weak perturbation has significant effects on the solution to the Schrödinger equation, most significantly resulting in a band gap between wave vectors in different Brillouin zones.

## Justifications

In this model, the assumption is made that the interaction between the conduction electrons and the ion cores can be modeled through the use of a "weak" perturbing potential. This may seem like a severe approximation, for the Coulomb attraction between these two particles of opposite charge can be quite significant at short distances. It can be partially justified, however, by noting two important properties of the quantum mechanical system:

- The force between the ions and the electrons is greatest at very small distances. However, the conduction
  electrons are not "allowed" to get this close to the ion cores due to the Pauli exclusion principle: the orbitals
  closest to the ion core are already occupied by the core electrons. Therefore, the conduction electrons never get
  close enough to the ion cores to feel their full force.
- 2. Furthermore, the core electrons shield the ion charge magnitude "seen" by the conduction electrons. The result is an *effective nuclear charge* experienced by the conduction electrons which is significantly reduced from the actual nuclear charge.

# References

- Ashcroft, Neil W.; Mermin, N. David (1976). Solid State Physics. Orlando: Harcourt. ISBN 0-03-083993-9.
- Kittel, Charles (1996). Introduction to Solid State Physics (7th ed.). New York: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-11181-3.
- Elliott, Stephen (1998). The Physics and Chemistry of Solids. New York: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-98194-X.

# Hartree–Fock method



In computational physics and chemistry, the **Hartree–Fock** (**HF**) method is a method of approximation for the determination of the wave function and the energy of a quantum many-body system in a stationary state.

The Hartree–Fock method often assumes that the exact, N-body wave function of the system can be approximated by a single Slater determinant (in the case where the particles are fermions) or by a single permanent (in the case of bosons) of N spin-orbitals. By invoking the variational method, one can derive a set of N-coupled equations for the N spin orbitals. A solution of these equations yields the Hartree–Fock wave function and energy of the system.

Especially in the older literature, the Hartree–Fock method is also called the **self-consistent field method** (**SCF**). In deriving what is now called the Hartree equation as an approximate solution of the Schrödinger equation, Hartree required the final field as computed from the charge distribution to be "self-consistent" with the assumed initial field. Thus, self-consistency was a requirement of the solution. The solutions to the non-linear Hartree–Fock equations also behave as if each particle is subjected to the mean field created by all other particles (see the Fock operator below) and hence the terminology continued. The equations are almost universally solved by means of an iterative method, although the fixed-point iteration algorithm does not always converge. This solution scheme is not the only one possible and is not an essential feature of the Hartree–Fock method.

The Hartree–Fock method finds its typical application in the solution of the Schrödinger equation for atoms, molecules, nanostructures and solids but it has also found widespread use in nuclear physics. (See Hartree–Fock–Bogoliubov method for a discussion of its application in nuclear structure theory). In atomic structure theory, calculations may be for a spectrum with many excited energy levels and consequently the Hartree–Fock method for atoms assumes the wave function is a single configuration state function with well-defined quantum numbers and that the energy level is not necessarily the ground state.

For both atoms and molecules, the Hartree–Fock solution is the central starting point for most methods that describe the many-electron system more accurately.

The rest of this article will focus on applications in electronic structure theory suitable for molecules with the atom as a special case. The discussion here is only for the Restricted Hartree–Fock method, where the atom or molecule is a closed-shell system with all orbitals (atomic or molecular) doubly occupied. Open-shell systems, where some of the electrons are not paired, can be dealt with by one of two Hartree–Fock methods:

- Restricted open-shell Hartree–Fock (ROHF)
- Unrestricted Hartree–Fock (UHF)

### **Brief history**

The origin of the Hartree–Fock method dates back to the end of the 1920s, soon after the discovery of the Schrödinger equation in 1926. In 1927 D. R. Hartree introduced a procedure, which he called the self-consistent field method, to calculate approximate wave functions and energies for atoms and ions. Hartree was guided by some earlier, semi-empirical methods of the early 1920s (by E. Fues, R. B. Lindsay, and himself) set in the old quantum theory of Bohr.

In the Bohr model of the atom, the energy of a state with principal quantum number n is given in atomic units as  $E = -1/n^2$ . It was observed from atomic spectra that the energy levels of many-electron atoms are well

described by applying a modified version of Bohr's formula. By introducing the quantum defect d as an empirical parameter, the energy levels of a generic atom were well approximated by the formula  $E = -1/(n+d)^2$ , in the sense that one could reproduce fairly well the observed transitions levels observed in the X-ray region (for example, see the empirical discussion and derivation in Moseley's law). The existence of a non-zero quantum defect was attributed to electron-electron repulsion, which clearly does not exist in the isolated hydrogen atom. This repulsion resulted in partial screening of the bare nuclear charge. These early researchers later introduced other potentials containing additional empirical parameters with the hope of better reproducing the experimental data.

Hartree sought to do away with empirical parameters and solve the many-body time-independent Schrödinger equation from fundamental physical principles, i.e., ab initio. His first proposed method of solution became known as the **Hartree method**. However, many of Hartree's contemporaries did not understand the physical reasoning behind the Hartree method: it appeared to many people to contain empirical elements, and its connection to the solution of the many-body Schrödinger equation was unclear. However, in 1928 J. C. Slater and J. A. Gaunt independently showed that the Hartree method could be couched on a sounder theoretical basis by applying the variational principle to an ansatz (trial wave function) as a product of single-particle functions.

In 1930 Slater and V. A. Fock independently pointed out that the Hartree method did not respect the principle of antisymmetry of the wave function. The Hartree method used the Pauli exclusion principle in its older formulation, forbidding the presence of two electrons in the same quantum state. However, this was shown to be fundamentally incomplete in its neglect of quantum statistics.

It was then shown that a Slater determinant, a determinant of one-particle orbitals first used by Heisenberg and Dirac in 1926, trivially satisfies the antisymmetric property of the exact solution and hence is a suitable ansatz for applying the variational principle. The original Hartree method can then be viewed as an approximation to the Hartree–Fock method by neglecting exchange. Fock's original method relied heavily on group theory and was too abstract for

contemporary physicists to understand and implement. In 1935 Hartree reformulated the method more suitably for the purposes of calculation.

The Hartree–Fock method, despite its physically more accurate picture, was little used until the advent of electronic computers in the 1950s due to the much greater computational demands over the early Hartree method and empirical models. Initially, both the Hartree method and the Hartree–Fock method were applied exclusively to atoms, where the spherical symmetry of the system allowed one to greatly simplify the problem. These approximate methods were (and are) often used together with the central field approximation, to impose that electrons in the same shell have the same radial part, and to restrict the variational solution to be a spin eigenfunction. Even so, solution by hand of the Hartree–Fock equations for a medium sized atom were laborious; small molecules required computational resources far beyond what was available before 1950.

### Hartree–Fock algorithm

The Hartree–Fock method is typically used to solve the time-independent Schrödinger equation for a multi-electron atom or molecule as described in the Born–Oppenheimer approximation. Since there are no known solutions for many-electron systems (hydrogenic atoms and the diatomic hydrogen cation being notable one-electron exceptions), the problem is solved numerically. Due to the nonlinearities introduced by the Hartree–Fock approximation, the equations are solved using a nonlinear method such as iteration, which gives rise to the name "self-consistent field method."

#### Approximations

The Hartree–Fock method makes five major simplifications in order to deal with this task:

- The Born–Oppenheimer approximation is inherently assumed. The full molecular wave function is actually a function of the coordinates of each of the nuclei, in addition to those of the electrons.
- Typically, relativistic effects are completely neglected. The momentum operator is assumed to be completely non-relativistic.
- The variational solution is assumed to be a linear combination of a finite number of basis functions, which are usually (but not always) chosen to be orthogonal. The finite basis set is assumed to be approximately complete.
- Each energy eigenfunction is assumed to be describable by a single Slater determinant, an antisymmetrized product of one-electron wave functions (i.e., orbitals).
- The mean field approximation is implied. Effects arising from deviations from this assumption, known as electron correlation, are completely neglected for the electrons of opposite spin, but are taken into account for electrons of parallel spin. (Electron correlation should not be confused with electron exchange, which is fully accounted for in the Hartree–Fock method.)

Relaxation of the last two approximations give rise to many so-called post-Hartree-Fock methods.

# Variational optimization of orbitals

The variational theorem states that for time-independent Hamiltonian а operator, any trial wave function will have an energy expectation value that is greater than or equal to the true ground state wave function corresponding to the given Hamiltonian. Because of this, the Hartree-Fock energy is an upper bound to the true ground state energy of a given molecule. In the context of the Hartree-Fock method, the best possible solution is at the Hartree-Fock limit; i.e., the limit of the Hartree-Fock energy as the basis



set approaches completeness. (The other is the *full-CI limit*, where the last two approximations of the Hartree–Fock theory as described above are completely undone. It is only when both limits are attained that the exact solution, up to the Born–Oppenheimer approximation, is obtained.) The Hartree–Fock energy is the minimal energy for a single Slater determinant.

The starting point for the Hartree–Fock method is a set of approximate one-electron wave functions known as *spin-orbitals*. For an atomic orbital calculation, these are typically the orbitals for a hydrogenic atom (an atom with only one electron, but the appropriate nuclear charge). For a molecular orbital or crystalline calculation, the initial approximate one-electron wave functions are typically a linear combination of atomic orbitals (LCAO).

The orbitals above only account for the presence of other electrons in an average manner. In the Hartree–Fock method, the effect of other electrons are accounted for in a mean-field theory context. The orbitals are optimized by requiring them to minimize the energy of the respective Slater determinant. The resultant variational conditions on the orbitals lead to a new one-electron operator, the Fock operator. At the minimum, the occupied orbitals are eigensolutions to the Fock operator via a unitary transformation between themselves. The Fock operator is an effective one-electron Hamiltonian operator being the sum of two terms. The first is a sum of kinetic energy operators for each electron, the internuclear repulsion energy, and a sum of nuclear-electronic Coulombic attraction terms. The second are Coulombic repulsion terms between electrons in a mean-field theory description; a net repulsion energy for each electron in the system, which is calculated by treating all of the other electrons within the molecule as a smooth distribution of negative charge. This is the major simplification inherent in the Hartree–Fock method, and is equivalent to the fifth simplification in the above list.

Since the Fock operator depends on the orbitals used to construct the corresponding Fock matrix, the eigenfunctions of the Fock operator are in turn new orbitals which can be used to construct a new Fock operator. In this way, the Hartree–Fock orbitals are optimized iteratively until the change in total electronic energy falls below a predefined threshold. In this way, a set of self-consistent one-electron orbitals are calculated. The Hartree–Fock electronic wave function is then the Slater determinant constructed out of these orbitals. Following the basic postulates of quantum mechanics, the Hartree–Fock wave function can then be used to compute any desired chemical or physical property within the framework of the Hartree–Fock method and the approximations employed.

# **Mathematical formulation**

#### The Fock operator

Because the electron-electron repulsion term of the electronic molecular Hamiltonian involves the coordinates of two different electrons, it is necessary to reformulate it in an approximate way. Under this approximation, (outlined under Hartree–Fock algorithm), all of the terms of the exact Hamiltonian except the nuclear-nuclear repulsion term are re-expressed as the sum of one-electron operators outlined below, for closed-shell atoms or molecules (with two electrons in each spatial orbital).<sup>[1]</sup> The "(1)" following each operator symbol simply indicates that the operator is 1-electron in nature.

$$\hat{F}[\{\phi_j\}](1) = \hat{H}^{ ext{core}}(1) + \sum_{j=1}^{N/2} [2\hat{J}_j(1) - \hat{K}_j(1)]$$

where

$$\hat{F}[\{\phi_j\}](1)$$

is the one-electron Fock operator generated by the orbitals  $\phi_i$ , and

$$\hat{H}^{ ext{core}}(1) = -rac{1}{2}
abla_1^2 - \sum_{lpha}rac{Z_{lpha}}{r_{1lpha}}$$

is the one-electron core Hamiltonian. Also

 $\hat{J}_j(1)$ 

is the Coulomb operator, defining the electron-electron repulsion energy due to each of the two electrons in the *j*th orbital. Finally

 $\hat{K}_i(1)$ 

is the exchange operator, defining the electron exchange energy due to the antisymmetry of the total n-electron wave function. Finding the Hartree–Fock one-electron wave functions is now equivalent to solving the eigenfunction equation:

$$\hat{F}(1)\phi_i(1) = \epsilon_i\phi_i(1)$$

where  $\phi_i$  (1) are a set of one-electron wave functions, called the Hartree–Fock molecular orbitals.

### Linear combination of atomic orbitals

Typically, in modern Hartree–Fock calculations, the one-electron wave functions are approximated by a linear combination of atomic orbitals. These atomic orbitals are called Slater-type orbitals. Furthermore, it is very common for the "atomic orbitals" in use to actually be composed of a linear combination of one or more Gaussian-type orbitals, rather than Slater-type orbitals, in the interests of saving large amounts of computation time.

Various basis sets are used in practice, most of which are composed of Gaussian functions. In some applications, an orthogonalization method such as the Gram–Schmidt process is performed in order to produce a set of orthogonal basis functions. This can in principle save computational time when the computer is solving the Roothaan–Hall equations by converting the overlap matrix effectively to an identity matrix. However, in most modern computer programs for molecular Hartree–Fock calculations this procedure is not followed due to the high numerical cost of orthogonalization and the advent of more efficient, often sparse, algorithms for solving the generalized eigenvalue problem, of which the Roothaan–Hall equations are an example.

# Numerical stability

Numerical stability can be a problem with this procedure and there are various ways of combating this instability. One of the most basic and generally applicable is called *F-mixing* or damping. With F-mixing, once a single electron wave function is calculated it is not used directly. Instead, some combination of that calculated wave function and the previous wave functions for that electron is used—the most common being a simple linear combination of the calculated and immediately preceding wave function. A clever dodge, employed by Hartree, for atomic calculations was to increase the nuclear charge, thus pulling all the electrons closer together. As the system stabilised, this was gradually reduced to the correct charge. In molecular calculations a similar approach is sometimes used by first calculating the wave function for a positive ion and then to use these orbitals as the starting point for the neutral molecule. Modern molecular Hartree–Fock computer programs use a variety of methods to ensure convergence of the Roothaan–Hall equations.

### Weaknesses, extensions, and alternatives

Of the five simplifications outlined in the section "Hartree–Fock algorithm", the fifth is typically the most important. Neglecting electron correlation can lead to large deviations from experimental results. A number of approaches to this weakness, collectively called post-Hartree–Fock methods, have been devised to include electron correlation to the multi-electron wave function. One of these approaches, Møller–Plesset perturbation theory, treats correlation as a perturbation of the Fock operator. Others expand the true multi-electron wave function in terms of a linear combination of Slater determinants—such as multi-configurational self-consistent field, configuration interaction, quadratic configuration interaction, and complete active space SCF (CASSCF). Still others (such as variational quantum Monte Carlo) modify the Hartree–Fock wave function by multiplying it by a correlation function ("Jastrow" factor), a term which is explicitly a function of multiple electrons that cannot be decomposed into independent single-particle functions.

An alternative to Hartree–Fock calculations used in some cases is density functional theory, which treats both exchange and correlation energies, albeit approximately. Indeed, it is common to use calculations that are a hybrid of the two methods—the popular B3LYP scheme is one such hybrid functional method. Another option is to use modern valence bond methods.

## Software packages

For a list of software packages known to handle Hartree–Fock calculations, particularly for molecules and solids, see the list of quantum chemistry and solid state physics software.

### References

[1] Levine, Ira N. (1991). Quantum Chemistry (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall. p. 403. ISBN 0-205-12770-3.

### Sources

- Levine, Ira N. (1991). *Quantum Chemistry* (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall. pp. 455–544. ISBN 0-205-12770-3.
- Cramer, Christopher J. (2002). *Essentials of Computational Chemistry*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. pp. 153–189. ISBN 0-471-48552-7.
- Szabo, A.; Ostlund, N. S. (1996). *Modern Quantum Chemistry*. Mineola, New York: Dover Publishing. ISBN 0-486-69186-1.

# **External links**

• Introduction by C. David Sherrill (http://vergil.chemistry.gatech.edu/notes/hf-intro/hf-intro.html)

# **Modern valence bond**

Electronic structure methods
Valence bond theory
Generalized valence bond
Modern valence bond
Molecular orbital theory
Hartree–Fock method
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory
Configuration interaction
Coupled cluster
Multi-configurational self-consistent
field
Quantum chemistry composite methods
Quantum Monte Carlo
Linear combination of atomic orbitals
Electronic band structure
Nearly free electron model
Tight binding
Muffin-tin approximation
Density functional theory
$k \cdot p$ perturbation theory
Empty lattice approximation
🞯 Book

**Modern valence bond theory** is the application of valence bond theory, with computer programs that are competitive in accuracy and economy with programs for the Hartree-Fock method and other molecular orbital based methods. The latter methods dominated quantum chemistry from the advent of digital computers because they were easier to program. The early popularity of valence bond methods thus declined. It is only recently that the programming of valence bond methods has improved. These developments are due to and described by Gerratt, Cooper, Karadakov and Raimondi (1997); Li and McWeeny (2002); Joop H. van Lenthe and co-workers (2002);<sup>[1]</sup> Song, Mo, Zhang and Wu (2005); and Shaik and Hiberty (2004).<sup>[2]</sup>

In its simplest form the overlapping atomic orbitals are replaced by orbitals which are expanded as linear combinations of the atom-based basis functions, forming linear combinations of atomic orbitals (LCAO). This expansion is optimized to give the lowest energy. This procedure gives good energies without including ionic structures.

For example, in the hydrogen molecule, classic valence bond theory uses two 1s atomic orbitals (a and b) on the two hydrogen atoms respectively and then constructs a covalent structure:-

 $\Phi_C = (a(1)b(2) + b(1)a(2)) (\alpha(1)\beta(2) - \beta(1)\alpha(2))$ 

and then an ionic structure:-

 $\Phi_I = (a(1)a(2) + b(1)b(2)) (\alpha(1)\beta(2) - \beta(1)\alpha(2))$ 

The final wave function is a linear combination of these two functions. Coulson and Fischer<sup>[3]</sup> pointed out that a completely equivalent function is:-

 $\Phi_{CF} = ((a+kb)(1)(b+ka)(2) + (b+ka)(1)(a+kb)(2)) ((\alpha(1)\beta(2) - \beta(1)\alpha(2)))$ 

as expanding this out gives a linear combination of the covalent and ionic structures. Modern valence bond theory replaces the simple linear combination of the two atomic orbitals with a linear combination of all orbitals in a larger basis set. The two resulting valence bond orbitals look like an atomic orbital on one hydrogen atom slightly distorted towards the other hydrogen atom. Modern valence bond theory is thus an extension of this Coulson-Fischer method.

### **Spin-coupled theory**

There are a large number of different valence bond methods. Most use n valence bond orbitals for n electrons. If a single set of these orbitals is combined with all linear independent combinations of the spin functions, we have **spin-coupled valence bond theory**. The total wave function is optimized using the variational method by varying the coefficients of the basis functions in the valence bond orbitals and the coefficients of the different spin functions. In other cases only a sub-set of all possible spin functions is used. Many valence bond methods use several sets of the valence bond orbitals. Be warned that different authors use different names for these different valence bond methods.

### Valence bond programs

Several groups have produced computer programs for modern valence bond calculations that are freely available.

### References

- van Lenthe, J. H.; Dijkstra, F.; Havenith, R. W. A. TURTLE A gradient VBSCF Program Theory and Studies of Aromaticity. In Theoretical and Computational Chemistry: Valence Bond Theory; Cooper, D. L., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2002; Vol. 10; pp 79--116.
- [2] See further reading section.
- [3] C. A. Coulson and I. Fischer, Phil. Mag. vol 40, p. 386 (1949)

# **Further reading**

- J. Gerratt, D. L. Cooper, P. B. Karadakov and M. Raimondi, "Modern Valence Bond Theory", *Chemical Society Reviews*, **26**, 87, 1997, and several others by the same authors.
- J. H. van Lenthe, G. G. Balint-Kurti, "The Valence Bond Self-Consistent Field (VBSCF) method", *Chemical Physics Letters* 76, 138–142, 1980.
- J. H. van Lenthe, G. G. Balint-Kurti, "The Valence Bond Self-Consistent Field (VBSCF) method", *The Journal of Chemical Physics* 78, 5699–5713, 1983.
- J. Li and R. McWeeny, "VB2000: Pushing Valence Bond Theory to new limits", *International Journal of Quantum Chemistry*, 89, 208, 2002.
- L. Song, Y. Mo, Q. Zhang and W. Wu, "XMVB: A program for *ab initio* nonorthogonal valence bond computations", *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, **26**, 514, 2005.
- S. Shaik and P. C. Hiberty, "Valence Bond theory, its History, Fundamentals and Applications. A Primer", *Reviews of Computational Chemistry*, **20**, 1 2004. A recent review that covers, not only their own contributions, but the whole of modern valence bond theory.

# **Generalized valence bond**



The **generalized valence bond** (GVB) method is one of the simplest and oldest valence bond method that uses flexible orbitals in the general way used by modern valence bond theory. The method was developed by the group of William A. Goddard, III around 1970.

# Theory

The generalized Coulson-Fisher theory for the hydrogen molecule, discussed in Modern valence bond theory, is used to describe every electron pair in a molecule. The orbitals for each electron pair are expanded in terms of the full basis set and are non-orthogonal. Orbitals from different pairs are forced to be orthogonal - the strong orthogonality condition. This condition simplifies the calculation but can lead to some difficulties.

# Calculations

GVB code in some programs, particularly GAMESS (US), can also be used to do a variety of restricted open-shell Hartree-Fock calculations, such as those with one or three electrons in two pi-electron molecular orbitals while retaining the degeneracy of the orbitals. This wave function is essentially a two-determinant function, rather than the one-determinant function of the restricted Hartree-Fock method.

# References

# **Møller–Plesset perturbation theory**

Electronic structure methods
Valence bond theory
Generalized valence bond
Modern valence bond
Molecular orbital theory
Hartree–Fock method
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory
Configuration interaction
Coupled cluster
Multi-configurational self-consistent
field
Quantum chemistry composite methods
Quantum Monte Carlo
Linear combination of atomic orbitals
Electronic band structure
Nearly free electron model
Tight binding
Muffin-tin approximation
Density functional theory
k·p perturbation theory
Empty lattice approximation
🙆 Book

**Møller–Plesset perturbation theory** (**MP**) is one of several quantum chemistry post-Hartree–Fock ab initio methods in the field of computational chemistry. It improves on the Hartree–Fock method by adding electron correlation effects by means of Rayleigh–Schrödinger perturbation theory (RS-PT), usually to second (MP2), third (MP3) or fourth (MP4) order. Its main idea was published as early as 1934 by Christian Møller and Milton S. Plesset.

### **Rayleigh–Schrödinger perturbation theory**

The MP perturbation theory is a special case of RS perturbation theory. In RS theory one considers an unperturbed Hamiltonian operator  $\hat{H}_0$ , to which a small (often external) perturbation  $\hat{V}$  is added:

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_0 + \lambda \hat{V}.$$

Here,  $\lambda$  is an arbitrary real parameter that controls the size of the perturbation. In MP theory the zeroth-order wave function is an exact eigenfunction of the Fock operator, which thus serves as the unperturbed operator. The perturbation is the correlation potential. In RS-PT the perturbed wave function and perturbed energy are expressed as a power series in  $\lambda$ :

$$\Psi = \lim_{m o \infty} \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^i \Psi^{(i)},$$

$$E = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{i=0}^{m} \lambda^i E^{(i)}$$

Substitution of these series into the time-independent Schrödinger equation gives a new equation as  $m \to \infty$ :

$$\left(\hat{H}_0 + \lambda V\right) \left(\sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^i \Psi^{(i)}\right) = \left(\sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^i E^{(i)}\right) \left(\sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^i \Psi^{(i)}\right).$$

Equating the factors of  $\lambda^k$  in this equation gives a *k*th-order perturbation equation, where k = 0, 1, 2, ..., m. See perturbation theory for more details.

### **Møller–Plesset perturbation**

#### **Original formulation**

The MP-energy corrections are obtained from Rayleigh–Schrödinger (RS) perturbation theory with the unperturbed Hamiltonian defined as the *shifted* Fock operator,

$$\hat{H}_0 \equiv F + \langle \Phi_0 | (\hat{H} - \hat{F}) | \Phi_0 
angle$$

and the perturbation defined as the correlation potential,

$$\hat{V} \equiv \hat{H} - \left(\hat{F} + \langle \Phi_0 | (\hat{H} - \hat{F}) | \Phi_0 \rangle \right),$$

where the normalized Slater determinant  $\Phi_0$  is the lowest eigenstate of the Fock operator:

$$\hat{F}\Phi_0 \equiv \sum_{k=1}^N \hat{f}(k)\Phi_0 = 2\sum_{i=1}^{N/2} \varepsilon_i \Phi_0.$$

Here N is the number of electrons in the molecule under consideration (a factor of 2 in the energy arises from the fact that each orbital is occupied by a pair of electrons with opposite spin),  $\hat{H}$  is the usual electronic Hamiltonian,  $\hat{f}(k)$  is the one-electron Fock operator, and  $\varepsilon_i$  is the orbital energy belonging to the doubly occupied spatial orbital  $\varphi_i$ . The interaction operator  $\hat{v}$  is assumed to couple up to two particles (electrons) at a time. A typical interaction would be the Coulomb repulsion (in atomic units), as defined by:

$$\langle \psi_p \psi_q | \hat{v} | \psi_r \psi_s 
angle = \int \psi_p^*(1) \psi_q^*(2) rac{1}{r_{12}} \psi_r(1) \psi_s(2) \, d au_1 \, d au_2.$$

where  $\psi$  represents an arbitrary single-electron wavefunction and  $r_{12}$  is the distance between electrons 1 and 2.

For convenience, the exchange interaction can be included to produce an antisymmetric interaction operator  $\hat{v}$ , defined as:

$$\langle \psi_p \psi_q | \hat{\hat{v}} | \psi_r \psi_s 
angle = \langle \psi_p \psi_q | \hat{v} | \psi_r \psi_s 
angle - \langle \psi_p \psi_q | \hat{v} | \psi_s \psi_r 
angle.$$

Since the Slater determinant  $\Phi_0$  is an eigenstate of  $\hat{F}$ , it follows readily that

$$\hat{F}\Phi_0 - \langle \Phi_0 | \hat{F} | \Phi_0 \rangle \Phi_0 = 0 \implies \hat{H}_0 \Phi_0 = \langle \Phi_0 | \hat{H} | \Phi_0 \rangle \Phi_0,$$
  
so that the zeroth-order energy is the expectation value of  $\hat{H}$  with respect to  $\Phi_0$ , *i.e.*, the Hartree–Fock energy:

$$E_{\mathrm{MP0}} \equiv E_{\mathrm{HF}} = \langle \Phi_0 | H | \Phi_0 \rangle.$$

Since the first-order MP energy

 $E_{
m MP1}\equiv \langle \Phi_0|\hat{V}|\Phi_0
angle=0$ 

is obviously zero, the lowest-order MP correlation energy appears in second order. This result is the **Møller–Plesset theorem**: *the correlation potential does not contribute in first-order to the exact electronic energy*.

In order to obtain the MP2 formula for a closed-shell molecule, the second order RS-PT formula is written on basis of doubly excited Slater determinants. (Singly excited Slater determinants do not contribute because of the Brillouin theorem). After application of the Slater–Condon rules for the simplification of *N*-electron matrix elements with

Slater determinants in bra and ket and integrating out spin, it becomes

$$\begin{split} E_{\rm MP2} &= \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j,a,b} \frac{\langle \varphi_i \varphi_j | \tilde{v} | \varphi_a \varphi_b \rangle \langle \varphi_a \varphi_b | \tilde{v} | \varphi_i \varphi_j \rangle}{\varepsilon_i + \varepsilon_j - \varepsilon_a - \varepsilon_b} \\ &= \sum_{i < j,a < b} \frac{2 \langle \varphi_i \varphi_j | \hat{v} | \varphi_a \varphi_b \rangle \left( \langle \varphi_a \varphi_b | \hat{v} | \varphi_i \varphi_j \rangle - \langle \varphi_a \varphi_b | \hat{v} | \varphi_j \varphi_i \rangle \right)}{\varepsilon_i + \varepsilon_j - \varepsilon_a - \varepsilon_b} \end{split}$$

where  $\varphi_i$  and  $\varphi_j$  are canonical occupied orbitals and  $\varphi_a$  and  $\varphi_b$  are canonical virtual (or unoccupied) orbitals. The quantities  $\varepsilon_i$ ,  $\varepsilon_j$ ,  $\varepsilon_a$ , and  $\varepsilon_b$  are the corresponding orbital energies. Clearly, through second-order in the correlation potential, the total electronic energy is given by the Hartree–Fock energy plus second-order MP correction:  $E \approx E_{\rm HF} + E_{\rm MP2}$ . The solution of the zeroth-order MP equation (which by definition is the Hartree–Fock equation) gives the Hartree–Fock energy. The first non-vanishing perturbation correction beyond the Hartree–Fock treatment is the second-order energy.

#### **Alternative formulation**

Equivalent expressions are obtained by a slightly different partitioning of the Hamiltonian, which results in a different division of energy terms over zeroth- and first-order contributions, while for second- and higher-order energy corrections the two partitionings give identical results. The formulation is commonly used by chemists, who are now large users of these methods.<sup>[1]</sup> This difference is due to the fact, well known in Hartree–Fock theory, that

$$\langle \Phi_0 | (\hat{H} - \hat{F}) | \Phi_0 \rangle \neq 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad E_{\mathrm{HF}} \neq 2 \sum_{i=1}^{N/2} \varepsilon_i.$$

(The Hartree–Fock energy is *not* equal to the sum of occupied-orbital energies). In the alternative partitioning, one defines

$$\hat{H}_0 \equiv \hat{F}, \qquad \hat{V} \equiv \hat{H} - \hat{F}$$

Clearly, in this partitioning,

$$E_{\mathrm{MP0}} = 2\sum_{i=1}^{N/2}arepsilon_i, \qquad E_{\mathrm{MP1}} = E_{\mathrm{HF}} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{N/2}arepsilon_i.$$

Obviously, with this alternative formulation, the Møller–Plesset theorem does not hold in the literal sense that  $E_{MP1} \neq 0$ . The solution of the zeroth-order MP equation is the sum of orbital energies. The zeroth plus first-order correction yields the Hartree–Fock energy. As with the original formulation, the first non-vanishing perturbation correction beyond the Hartree–Fock treatment is the second-order energy. To reiterate, the second- and higher-order corrections are the same in both formulations.

#### Use of Møller–Plesset perturbation methods

Second (MP2), third (MP3), and fourth (MP4) order Møller–Plesset calculations are standard levels used in calculating small systems and are implemented in many computational chemistry codes. Higher level MP calculations, generally only MP5, are possible in some codes. However, they are rarely used because of their cost.

Systematic studies of MP perturbation theory have shown that it is not necessarily a convergent theory at high orders. Convergence can be slow, rapid, oscillatory, regular, highly erratic or simply non-existent, depending on the precise chemical system or basis set. The density matrix for the first-order and higher MP2 wavefunction is of the type known as *response density*, which differs from the more usual *expectation value density*. The eigenvalues of the response density matrix (which are the occupation numbers of the MP2 natural orbitals) can therefore be greater than 2 or negative. Unphysical numbers are a sign of a divergent perturbation expansion.

Additionally, various important molecular properties calculated at MP3 and MP4 level are no better than their MP2 counterparts, even for small molecules.

For open shell molecules, MPn-theory can directly be applied only to unrestricted Hartree–Fock reference functions (since ROHF states are not in general eigenvectors of the Fock operator). However, the resulting energies often suffer from severe spin contamination, leading to large errors. A possible better alternative is to use one of the MP2-like methods based on restricted open-shell Hartree–Fock (ROHF). Unfortunately, there are many ROHF based MP2-like methods because of arbitrariness in the ROHF wavefunction(for example HCPT, ROMP, RMP (also called ROHF-MBPT2), OPT1 and OPT2, ZAPT, IOPT, etc.). Some of the ROHF based MP2-like theories suffer from spin-contamination in their perturbed density and energies beyond second-order.

These methods, Hartree–Fock, unrestricted Hartree–Fock and restricted Hartree–Fock use a single determinant wave function. Multi-configurational self-consistent field (MCSCF) methods use several determinants and can be used for the unperturbed operator, although not uniquely, so many methods, such as complete active space perturbation theory (CASPT2), and Multi-Configuration Quasi-Degenerate Perturbation Theory (MCQDPT), have been developed. Unfortunately, MCSCF based methods are not without perturbation series divergences.

# References

[1] See all volumes under #Further reading.

# **Further reading**

- Cramer, Christopher J. (2002). *Essentials of Computational Chemistry*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. pp. 207–211. ISBN 0-471-48552-7.
- Foresman, James B.; Æleen Frisch (1996). *Exploring Chemistry with Electronic Structure Methods*. Pittsburgh, PA: Gaussian Inc. pp. 267–271. ISBN 0-9636769-4-6.
- Leach, Andrew R. (1996). Molecular Modelling. Harlow: Longman. pp. 83-85. ISBN 0-582-23933-8.
- Levine, Ira N. (1991). *Quantum Chemistry*. Englewood Cliffs, New jersey: Prentice Hall. pp. 511–515. ISBN 0-205-12770-3.
- Szabo, Attila; Neil S. Ostlund (1996). *Modern Quantum Chemistry*. Mineola, New York: Dover Publications, Inc. pp. 350–353. ISBN 0-486-69186-1.

# **Configuration interaction**



**Configuration interaction** (CI) is a post-Hartree–Fock linear variational method for solving the nonrelativistic Schrödinger equation within the Born–Oppenheimer approximation for a quantum chemical multi-electron system. Mathematically, *configuration* simply describes the linear combination of Slater determinants used for the wave function. In terms of a specification of orbital occupation (for instance,  $(1s)^2(2s)^2(2p)^1...)$ , *interaction* means the mixing (interaction) of different electronic configurations (states). Due to the long CPU time and immense hardware required for CI calculations, the method is limited to relatively small systems.

In contrast to the Hartree–Fock method, in order to account for electron correlation, CI uses a variational wave function that is a linear combination of configuration state functions (CSFs) built from spin orbitals (denoted by the superscript *SO*),

$$\Psi = \sum_{I=0} c_I \Phi_I^{SO} = c_0 \Phi_0^{SO} + c_1 \Phi_1^{SO} + \dots$$

where  $\Psi$  is usually the electronic ground state of the system. If the expansion includes all possible CSFs of the appropriate symmetry, then this is a full configuration interaction procedure which exactly solves the electronic Schrödinger equation within the space spanned by the one-particle basis set. The first term in the above expansion is normally the Hartree–Fock determinant. The other CSFs can be characterised by the number of spin orbitals that are swapped with virtual orbitals from the Hartree–Fock determinant. If only one spin orbital differs, we describe this as a single excitation determinant. If two spin orbitals differ it is a double excitation determinant and so on. This is used to limit the number of determinants in the expansion which is called the CI-space.

Truncating the CI-space is important to save computational time. For example, the method CID is limited to double excitations only. The method CISD is limited to single and double excitations. Single excitations on their own do not mix with the Hartree–Fock determinant. These methods, CID and CISD, are in many standard programs. The

Davidson correction can be used to estimate a correction to the CISD energy to account for higher excitations. An important problem of truncated CI methods is their size-inconsistency which means the energy of two infinitely separated particles is not double the energy of the single particle.

The CI procedure leads to a general matrix eigenvalue equation:

$$\mathbb{H}\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{e}\mathbb{S}\mathbf{c},$$

where c is the coefficient vector, e is the eigenvalue matrix, and the elements of the hamiltonian and overlap matrices are, respectively,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{H}_{ij} &= \left\langle \Phi_i^{SO} | \mathbf{H}^{el} | \Phi_j^{SO} \right\rangle \\ \mathbb{S}_{ij} &= \left\langle \Phi_i^{SO} | \Phi_j^{SO} \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Slater determinants are constructed from sets of orthonormal spin orbitals, so that  $\langle \Phi_i^{SO} | \Phi_j^{SO} \rangle = \delta_{ij}$ , making S

the identity matrix and simplifying the above matrix equation.

The solution of the CI procedure are some eigenvalues  $\mathbf{E}^{j}$  and their corresponding eigenvectors  $\mathbf{c}_{I}^{j}$ .

The eigenvalues are the energies of the ground and some electronically excited states. By this it is possible to calculate energy differences (excitation energies) with CI methods. Excitation energies of truncated CI methods are generally too high, because the excited states are not that well correlated as the ground state is. For equally (balanced) correlation of ground and excited states (better excitation energies) one can use more than one reference determinant from which all singly, doubly, ... excited determinants are included (multireference configuration interaction). MRCI also gives better correlation of the ground state which is important if it has more than one dominant determinant. This can be easily understood because some higher excited determinants are also taken into the CI-space.

For nearly degenerate determinants which build the ground state one should use the multi-configurational self-consistent field (MCSCF) method because the Hartree–Fock determinant is qualitatively wrong and so are the CI wave functions and energies.

### References

- Cramer, Christopher J. (2002). *Essentials of Computational Chemistry*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. pp. 191–232. ISBN 0-471-48552-7.
- Sherrill, C. David; Schaefer III, Henry F. (1999). "The Configuration Interaction Method: Advances in Highly Correlated Approaches". In Löwdin, Per-Olov. Advances in Quantum Chemistry 34. San Diego: Academic Press. pp. 143–269. doi:10.1016/S0065-3276(08)60532-8<sup>[1]</sup>. ISBN 0-12-034834-9.

# References

[1] http://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2FS0065-3276%2808%2960532-8

# **Coupled cluster**



**Coupled cluster** (**CC**) is a numerical technique used for describing many-body systems. Its most common use is as one of several post-Hartree–Fock ab initio quantum chemistry methods in the field of computational chemistry. It essentially takes the basic Hartree–Fock molecular orbital method and constructs multi-electron wavefunctions using the exponential cluster operator to account for electron correlation. Some of the most accurate calculations for small to medium sized molecules use this method.

The method was initially developed by Fritz Coester and Hermann Kümmel in the 1950s for studying nuclear physics phenomena, but became more frequently used when in 1966 Jiři Čížek (and later together with Josef Paldus) reformulated the method for electron correlation in atoms and molecules. It is now one of the most prevalent methods in quantum chemistry that includes electronic correlation. CC theory is simply the perturbative variant of the Many Electron Theory (MET) of Oktay Sinanoğlu, which is the exact (and variational) solution of the many electron problem, so it was also called "Coupled Pair MET (CPMET)". J. Čížek used the correlation function of MET and used Goldstone type perturbation theory to get the energy expression while original MET was completely variational. Čížek first developed the Linear-CPMET and then generalized it to full CPMET in the same paper in 1966. He then also performed an application of it on benzene molecule with O. Sinanoğlu in the same year. Because MET is somewhat difficult to perform computationally, CC is simpler and thus, in today's computational chemistry, CC is the best variant of MET and gives highly accurate results in comparison to experiments.<sup>[1]</sup>

### Wavefunction ansatz

Coupled-cluster theory provides the exact solution to the time-independent Schrödinger equation

 $H|\Psi\rangle = E|\Psi\rangle$ 

where H is the Hamiltonian of the system,  $|\Psi\rangle$  the exact wavefunction, and E the exact energy of the ground state. Coupled-cluster theory can also be used to obtain solutions for excited states using, for example, linear-response, equation-of-motion, state-universal multi-reference coupled cluster, or valence-universal multi-reference coupled cluster approaches.

The wavefunction of the coupled-cluster theory is written as an exponential ansatz:

 $|\Psi
angle=e^T|\Phi_0
angle$  ,

where  $|\Phi_0\rangle$ , the reference wave function, which is typically a Slater determinant constructed from Hartree–Fock molecular orbitals, though other wave functions such as Configuration interaction, Multi-configurational self-consistent field, or Brueckner orbitals can also be used. T is the cluster operator which, when acting on  $|\Phi_0\rangle$ , produces a linear combination of excited determinants from the reference wave function (see section below for

greater detail). The choice of the exponential ansatz is opportune because (unlike other ansätze, for example, configuration

interaction) it guarantees the size extensivity of the solution. Size consistency in CC theory, however, depends on the size consistency of the reference wave function.

A criticism of the method is that the conventional implementation employing the similarity-transformed Hamiltonian (see below) is not variational, though there are bi-variational and quasi-variational approaches that have been developed since the first implementations of the theory. While the above ansatz for the wave function itself has no natural truncation, for other properties, such as energy, there is a natural truncation when examining expectation values, which has its basis in the linked- and connected-cluster theorems, and thus does not suffer from issues such as lack of size extensivity, like the variational configuration interaction.

### **Cluster operator**

The cluster operator is written in the form,

 $T=T_1+T_2+T_3+\cdots,$ 

where  $T_1$  is the operator of all single excitations,  $T_2$  is the operator of all double excitations and so forth. In the formalism of second quantization these excitation operators are expressed as

$$T_1 = \sum_i \sum_a t_a^i \hat{a}^a \hat{a}_i,$$
  
$$T_2 = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j} \sum_{a,b} t_{ab}^{ij} \hat{a}^a \hat{a}^b \hat{a}_j \hat{a}_i$$

and for the general n-fold cluster operator

$$T_n = \frac{1}{(n!)^2} \sum_{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n} \sum_{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n} t_{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n}^{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n} \hat{a}^{a_1} \hat{a}^{a_2} \dots \hat{a}^{a_n} \hat{a}_{i_n} \dots \hat{a}_{i_2} \hat{a}_{i_1}.$$

In the above formulae  $(\hat{a}_a^{\dagger} =)\hat{a}^a$  and  $\hat{a}_i$  denote the creation and annihilation operators respectively and *i*, *j* stand for occupied (hole) and *a*, *b* for unoccupied (particle) orbitals (states). The creation and annihilation operators in the coupled cluster terms above are written in canonical form, where each term is in the normal order form, with respect to the Fermi vacuum,  $|\Phi_0\rangle$ . Being the one-particle cluster operator and the two-particle cluster operator,  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  convert the reference function  $|\Phi_0\rangle$  into a linear combination of the singly and doubly excited Slater determinants, respectively, if applied without the exponential (such as in CI where a linear excitation operator is applied to the wave function). Applying the exponential cluster operator to the wave function, one can then generate more than doubly excited determinants due to the various powers of  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  that appear in the resulting expressions (see below). Solving for the unknown coefficients  $t_a^i$  and  $t_{ab}^{ij}$  is necessary for finding the approximate solution  $|\Psi\rangle$ . The exponential operator  $e^T$  may be expanded as a Taylor series and if we consider only the  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  cluster operators of T, we can write:

$$e^{T} = 1 + T + \frac{1}{2!}T^{2} + \dots = 1 + T_{1} + T_{2} + \frac{1}{2}T_{1}^{2} + T_{1}T_{2} + \frac{1}{2}T_{2}^{2} + \dots$$

Though this series is finite in practice because the number of occupied molecular orbitals is finite, as is the number of excitations, it is still very large, to the extent that even modern day massively parallel computers are inadequate, except for problems of a dozen or so electrons and very small basis sets, when considering all contributions to the cluster operator and not just  $T_1$  and  $T_2$ . Often, as was done above, the cluster operator includes only singles and doubles (see CCSD below) as this offers a computationally affordable method that performs better than MP2 and CISD, but is not very accurate usually. For accurate results some form of triples (approximate or full) are needed, even near the equilibrium geometry (in the Franck-Condon region), and especially when breaking single-bonds or describing diradical species (these latter examples are often what is referred to as multi-reference problems, since more than one determinant has a significant contribution to the resulting wave function). For double bond breaking, and more complicated problems in chemistry, quadruple excitations often become important as well, though usually they are small for most problems, and as such, the contribution of  $T_5$ ,  $T_6$  etc. to the operator T is typically small.

Furthermore, if the highest excitation level in the T operator is n,

$$T = T_1 + \ldots + T_n$$

then Slater determinants for an *N*-electron system excited more than n (< N) times may still contribute to the coupled cluster wave function  $|\Psi\rangle$  because of the non-linear nature of the exponential ansatz, and therefore, coupled cluster terminated at  $T_n$  usually recovers more correlation energy than CI with maximum *n* excitations.

### **Coupled-cluster equations**

The Schrödinger equation can be written, using the coupled-cluster wave function, as

$$|H|\Psi_0
angle = He^T|\Phi_0
angle = Ee^T|\Phi_0
angle$$

where there are a total of q coefficients (*t*-amplitudes) to solve for. To obtain the q equations, first, we multiply the above Schrödinger equation on the left by  $e^{-T}$  and then project onto the entire set of up to *m*-tuply excited determinants, where *m* is the highest order excitation included in T, that can be constructed from the reference wave function  $|\Phi_0\rangle$ , denoted by  $|\Phi^*\rangle$ , and individually,  $|\Phi_i^a\rangle$  are singly excited determinants where the electron in orbital *i* has been excited to orbital *a*;  $|\Phi_{ij}^{ab}\rangle$  are doubly excited determinants where the electron in orbital *i* has been excited to orbital *a* and the electron in orbital *j* has been excited to orbital *b*, etc. In this way we generate a set of coupled energy-independent non-linear algebraic equations needed to determine the *t*-amplitudes.

$$\langle \Phi_0 | e^{-T} H e^T | \Phi_0 \rangle = E \langle \Phi_0 | \Phi_0 \rangle = E$$

$$\langle \Phi^* | e^{-T} H e^T | \Phi_0 
angle = E \langle \Phi^* | \Phi_0 
angle = 0,$$

(note, we have made use of  $e^{-T}e^{T} = 1$ , the identity operator, and we are also assuming that we are using orthogonal orbitals, though this does not necessarily have to be true, e.g., valence bond orbitals, and in such cases the last set of equations are not necessarily equal to zero) the latter being the equations to be solved and the former the equation for the evaluation of the energy.

Considering the basic CCSD method:

$$egin{aligned} &\langle \Phi_0 | e^{-(T_1+T_2)} H e^{(T_1+T_2)} | \Phi_0 
angle = E \,, \ &\langle \Phi^a_i | e^{-(T_1+T_2)} H e^{(T_1+T_2)} | \Phi_0 
angle = 0, \ &\langle \Phi^{ab}_{ij} | e^{-(T_1+T_2)} H e^{(T_1+T_2)} | \Phi_0 
angle = 0, \end{aligned}$$

in which the similarity transformed Hamiltonian,  $\overline{H}$ , can be explicitly written down using Hadamard's formula in Lie algebra, also called Hadamard's lemma (see also Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff formula (BCH formula), though note they are different, in that Hadamard's formula is a lemma of the BCH formula):

$$\bar{H} = e^{-T}He^{T} = H + [H,T] + (1/2)[[H,T],T] + ... = (He^{T})_{C}$$

The subscript C designates the connected part of the corresponding operator expression.

The resulting similarity transformed Hamiltonian is non-Hermitian, resulting in different left- and right-handed vectors (wave functions) for the same state of interest (this is what is often referred to in coupled cluster theory as the biorthogonality of the solution or wave function, though it also applies to other non-Hermitian theories as well). The resulting equations are a set of non-linear equations which are solved in an iterative manner. Standard quantum chemistry packages (GAMESS (US), NWChem, ACES II, etc.) solve the coupled cluster equations using the Jacobi method and direct inversion of the iterative subspace (DIIS) extrapolation of the t-amplitudes to accelerate convergence.

### **Types of coupled-cluster methods**

The classification of traditional coupled-cluster methods rests on the highest number of excitations allowed in the definition of T. The abbreviations for coupled-cluster methods usually begin with the letters "CC" (for coupled cluster) followed by

- 1. S for single excitations (shortened to singles in coupled-cluster terminology)
- 2. D for double excitations (doubles)
- 3. T for triple excitations (triples)
- 4. Q for quadruple excitations (quadruples)

Thus, the T operator in CCSDT has the form

 $T = T_1 + T_2 + T_3.$ 

Terms in round brackets indicate that these terms are calculated based on perturbation theory. For example, the CCSD(T) method means:

- 1. Coupled cluster with a full treatment singles and doubles.
- 2. An estimate to the connected triples contribution is calculated non-iteratively using Many-Body Perturbation Theory arguments.

### General description of the theory

The complexity of equations and the corresponding computer codes, as well as the cost of the computation increases sharply with the highest level of excitation. For many applications CCSD, while relatively inexpensive, does not provide sufficient accuracy except for the smallest systems (approximately 2 to 4 electrons), and often times an approximate treatment of triples is needed. The most well known coupled cluster method that provides an estimate of connected triples is CCSD(T), which provides a good description of closed-shell molecules near the equilibrium geometry, but breaks down in more complicated situations such as bond breaking and diradicals. Another popular method that makes up for the failings of the standard CCSD(T) approach is CR-CC(2,3), where the triples contribution to the energy is computed from the difference between the exact solution and the CCSD energy, and is not based on perturbation theory arguments. More complicated coupled-cluster methods such as CCSDT and CCSDTQ are used only for high-accuracy calculations of small molecules. The inclusion of all *n* levels of excitation for the *n*-electron system gives the exact solution of the Schrödinger equation within the given basis set, within the Born–Oppenheimer approximation (although schemes have also been drawn up to work without the BO approximation).

One possible improvement to the standard coupled-cluster approach is to add terms linear in the interelectronic distances through methods such as CCSD-R12. This improves the treatment of dynamical electron correlation by satisfying the Kato cusp condition and accelerates convergence with respect to the orbital basis set. Unfortunately, R12 methods invoke the resolution of the identity which requires a relatively large basis set in order to be a good approximation.

The coupled-cluster method described above is also known as the *single-reference* (SR) coupled-cluster method because the exponential ansatz involves only one reference function  $|\Phi_0\rangle$ . The standard generalizations of the SR-CC method are the *multi-reference* (MR) approaches: state-universal coupled cluster (also known as Hilbert space coupled cluster), valence-universal coupled cluster (or Fock space coupled cluster) and state-selective coupled cluster (or state-specific coupled cluster).

### **Historical accounts**

In the first reference below, Kümmel comments:

Considering the fact that the CC method was well understood around the late fifties it looks strange that nothing happened with it until 1966, as Jiři Čížek published his first paper on a quantum chemistry problem. He had looked into the 1957 and 1960 papers published in Nuclear Physics by Fritz and myself. I always found it quite remarkable that a quantum chemist would open an issue of a nuclear physics journal. I myself at the time had almost gave up the CC method as not tractable and, of course, I never looked into the quantum chemistry journals. The result was that I learnt about Jiři's work as late as in the early seventies, when he sent me a big parcel with reprints of the many papers he and Joe Paldus had written until then.

Josef Paldus also wrote his first hand account of the origins of coupled-cluster theory, its implementation, and exploitation in electronic wave function determination; his account is primarily about the making of coupled-cluster theory rather than about the theory itself.

### **Relation to other theories**

#### **Configuration Interaction**

The C<sub>1</sub> excitation operators defining the CI expansion of an N-electron system for the wave function  $|\Psi_0\rangle$ ,

$$ert \Psi_0 
angle = (1+C) ert \Phi_0 
angle \, , 
onumber \ C = \sum_{j=1}^N C_j \, ,$$

are related to the cluster operators T, since in the limit of including up to  $T_N$  in the cluster operator the CC theory must be equal to full CI, we obtain the following relationships

$$egin{aligned} C_1 &= T_1, \ C_2 &= T_2 + rac{1}{2} (T_1)^2, \ C_3 &= T_3 + T_1 T_2 + rac{1}{6} (T_1)^3, \ C_4 &= T_4 + rac{1}{2} (T_2)^2 + T_1 T_3 + rac{1}{2} (T_1)^2 T_2 + rac{1}{24} (T_1)^4, \end{aligned}$$

etc. For general relationships see J. Paldus, in *Methods in Computational Molecular Physics*, Vol. 293 of *Nato Advanced Study Institute Series B: Physics*, edited by S. Wilson and G.H.F. Diercksen (Plenum, New York, 1992), pp. 99-194.

#### Symmetry Adapted Cluster

The Symmetry adapted cluster (SAC) approach determines the (spin and) symmetry adapted cluster operator

$$S = \sum_{I} S_{I}$$

by solving the following system of energy dependent equations,

$$\langle \Phi | (H - E_0) e^S | \Phi \rangle = 0,$$
  
 $\langle \Phi^{a_1 \dots a_n}_{i_1 \dots i_n} | (H - E_0) e^S | \Phi \rangle = 0,$   
 $i_1 < \dots < i_n, a_1 < \dots < a_n, n = 1, \dots, M_s,$ 

where  $|\Phi_{i_1...i_n}^{a_1...a_n}\rangle$  are the *n*-tuply excited determinants relative to  $|\Phi_0\rangle$  (usually they are the spin- and symmetry-adapted configuration state functions, in practical implementations), and  $M_s$  is the highest-order of excitation included in the SAC operator. If all of the nonlinear terms in  $e^s$  are included then the SAC equations become equivalent to the standard coupled-cluster equations of Jiři Čížek. This is due to the cancellation of the energy-dependent terms with the disconnected terms contributing to the product of  $He^s$ , resulting in the same set of nonlinear energy-independent equations. Typically, all nonlinear terms, except  $\frac{1}{2}S_2^2$  are dropped, as higher-order nonlinear terms are usually small.

### References

[1] and references therein

# Multi-configurational self-consistent field

Electronic structure methods
Valence bond theory
Generalized valence bond
Modern valence bond
Molecular orbital theory
Hartree-Fock method
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory
Configuration interaction
Coupled cluster
Multi-configurational self-consistent
field
Quantum chemistry composite methods
Quantum Monte Carlo
Linear combination of atomic orbitals
Electronic band structure
Nearly free electron model
Tight binding
Muffin-tin approximation
Density functional theory
k p perturbation theory
Empty lattice approximation
🞯 Book

**Multi-configurational self-consistent field (MCSCF)** is a method in quantum chemistry used to generate qualitatively correct reference states of molecules in cases where Hartree–Fock and density functional theory are not adequate (e.g., for molecular ground states which are quasi-degenerate with low lying excited states or in bond breaking situations). It uses a linear combination of configuration state functions (CSF) or configuration determinants to approximate the exact electronic wavefunction of an atom or molecule. In an MCSCF calculation, the set of coefficients of both the CSFs or determinants and the basis functions in the molecular orbitals are varied to obtain the total electronic wavefunction with the lowest possible energy. This method can be considered a combination between configuration interaction (where the molecular orbitals are varied but the expansion of the wave function) and Hartree–Fock (where there is only one determinant but the molecular orbitals are varied).

MCSCF wave functions are often used as reference states for Multireference configuration interaction (MRCI) or multi-reference perturbation theories like complete active space perturbation theory (CASPT2). These methods can deal with extremely complex chemical situations and, if computing power permits, may be used to reliably calculate molecular ground- and excited states if all other methods fail.

### Introduction

For the simplest single bond, found in the  $H_2$  molecule, molecular orbitals can always be written in terms of two functions  $\chi_{iA}$  and  $\chi_{iB}$  (which are atomic orbitals with small corrections) located at the two nuclei,

 $\varphi_i = N_i (\chi_{iA} \pm \chi_{iB}),$ 

where  $N_i$  is a normalization constant. The ground state wavefunction for  $H_2$  at the equilibrium geometry is dominated by the configuration  $(\varphi_1)^2$ , which means the molecular orbital  $\varphi_1$  is nearly doubly occupied. The Hartree–Fock model *assumes* it is doubly occupied, which leads to a total wavefunction of

$$\Phi_1=arphi_1(\mathbf{r}_1)arphi_1(\mathbf{r}_2)\Theta_{2,0}$$

where  $\Theta_{2,0}$  is the singlet (S = 0) spin function for two electrons. The molecular orbitals in this case  $\varphi_1$  are taken as sums of 1s atomic orbitals on both atoms, namely  $N_1(1s_A + 1s_B)$ . Expanding the above equation into atomic orbitals yields

$$\Phi_1 = N_1^2 \left[ 1 s_A(\mathbf{r}_1) 1 s_A(\mathbf{r}_2) + 1 s_A(\mathbf{r}_1) 1 s_B(\mathbf{r}_2) + 1 s_B(\mathbf{r}_1) 1 s_A(\mathbf{r}_2) + 1 s_B(\mathbf{r}_1) 1 s_B(\mathbf{r}_2) 
ight] \Theta_{2,0},$$

This Hartree-Fock model gives a reasonable description of  $H_2$  around the equilibrium geometry - about 0.735Å for the bond length (compared to a 0.746Å experimental value) and 84 kcal/mol for the bond energy (exp. 109 kcal/mol). This is typical of the HF model, which usually describes closed shell systems around their equilibrium geometry quite well. At large separations, however, the terms describing both electrons located at one atom remain, which corresponds to dissociation to  $H^+ + H^-$ , which has a much larger energy than H + H. Therefore, the persisting presence of ionic terms leads to an unphysical solution in this case.

Consequently, the HF model cannot be used to describe dissociation processes with open shell products. The most straightforward solution to this problem is introducing coefficients in front of the different terms in  $\Psi_1$ :

$$\Psi_1 = C_{\mathrm{Ion}} \Phi_{\mathrm{Ion}} + C_{\mathrm{Cov}} \Phi_{\mathrm{Cov}}$$

which forms the basis for the valence bond description of chemical bonds. With the coefficients  $C_{Ion}$  and  $C_{Cov}$  varying, the wave function will have the correct form, with  $C_{Ion}=0$  for the separated limit and  $C_{Ion}$  comparable to  $C_{Cov}$  at equilibrium. Such a description, however, uses non-orthogonal basis functions, which complicates its mathematical structure. Instead, multiconfiguration is achieved by using orthogonal molecular orbitals. After introducing an anti-bonding orbital

$$\phi_2 = N_2(1s_A - 1s_B),$$

the total wave function of  $H_2$  can be written as a linear combination of configurations built from bonding and anti-bonding orbitals:

$$\Psi_{MC} = C_1 \Phi_1 + C_2 \Phi_2,$$

where  $\Phi_2$  is the electronic configuration  $(\phi_2)^2$ . In this multiconfigurational description of the H<sub>2</sub> chemical bond, C<sub>1</sub> = 1 and C<sub>2</sub> = 0 close to equilibrium, and C<sub>1</sub> will be comparable to C<sub>2</sub> for large separations.

# **Complete active space SCF**

A particularly important MCSCF approach is the **complete active space SCF method** (**CASSCF**), where the linear combination of CSFs includes all that arise from a particular number of electrons in a particular number of orbitals (also known as full-optimized reaction space (**FORS-MCSCF**)). For example, one might define CASSCF(11,8) for the molecule, NO, where the 11 valence electrons are distributed between all configurations that can be constructed from 8 molecular orbitals.

# **Restricted active space SCF**

Since the number of CSFs quickly increases with the number of active orbitals, along with the computational cost, it may be desirable to use a smaller set of CSFs. One way to make this selection is to restrict the number of electrons in certain subspaces, done in the **restricted active space SCF method** (**RASSCF**). One could, for instance, allow only single and double excitations from some strongly-occupied subset of active orbitals, or restrict the number of electrons to at most 2 in another subset of active orbitals.

# References

# **Further reading**

 Cramer, Christopher J. (2002). Essentials of Computational Chemistry. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons. ISBN 0-471-48552-7.

# **Density functional theory**

Electronic structure methods
Valence bond theory
Generalized valence bond
Modern valence bond
Molecular orbital theory
Hartree–Fock method
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory
Configuration interaction
Coupled cluster
Multi-configurational self-consistent
field
Quantum chemistry composite methods
Quantum Monte Carlo
Linear combination of atomic orbitals
Electronic band structure
Nearly free electron model
Tight binding
Muffin-tin approximation
Density functional theory
k p perturbation theory
Empty lattice approximation
Book

**Density functional theory (DFT)** is a quantum mechanical modelling method used in physics and chemistry to investigate the electronic structure (principally the ground state) of many-body systems, in particular atoms, molecules, and the condensed phases. With this theory, the properties of a many-electron system can be determined by using functionals, i.e. functions of another function, which in this case is the spatially dependent electron density. Hence the name density functional theory comes from the use of functionals of the electron density. DFT is among the most popular and versatile methods available in condensed-matter physics, computational physics, and computational chemistry.

DFT has been very popular for calculations in solid-state physics since the 1970s. However, DFT was not considered accurate enough for calculations in quantum chemistry until the 1990s, when the approximations used in the theory were greatly refined to better model the exchange and correlation interactions. In many cases the results of DFT calculations for solid-state systems agree quite satisfactorily with experimental data. Computational costs are relatively low when compared to traditional methods, such as Hartree–Fock theory and its descendants based on the complex many-electron wavefunction.

Despite recent improvements, there are still difficulties in using density functional theory to properly describe intermolecular interactions, especially van der Waals forces (dispersion); charge transfer excitations; transition states, global potential energy surfaces and some other strongly correlated systems; and in calculations of the band gap in semiconductors. Its incomplete treatment of dispersion can adversely affect the accuracy of DFT (at least when used alone and uncorrected) in the treatment of systems which are dominated by dispersion (e.g. interacting noble gas atoms) or where dispersion competes significantly with other effects (e.g. in biomolecules). The development of new DFT methods designed to overcome this problem, by alterations to the functional or by the inclusion of additive terms, is a current research topic.

### **Overview of method**

Although density functional theory has its conceptual roots in the Thomas–Fermi model, DFT was put on a firm theoretical footing by the two **Hohenberg–Kohn theorems** (H–K). The original H–K theorems held only for non-degenerate ground states in the absence of a magnetic field, although they have since been generalized to encompass these.

The first H–K theorem demonstrates that the ground state properties of a many-electron system are uniquely determined by an electron density that depends on only 3 spatial coordinates. It lays the groundwork for reducing the many-body problem of N electrons with 3N spatial coordinates to 3 spatial coordinates, through the use of functionals of the electron density. This theorem can be extended to the time-dependent domain to develop time-dependent density functional theory (TDDFT), which can be used to describe excited states.

The second H–K theorem defines an energy functional for the system and proves that the correct ground state electron density minimizes this energy functional.

Within the framework of Kohn–Sham DFT (KS DFT), the intractable many-body problem of interacting electrons in a static external potential is reduced to a tractable problem of non-interacting electrons moving in an effective potential. The effective potential includes the external potential and the effects of the Coulomb interactions between the electrons, e.g., the exchange and correlation interactions. Modeling the latter two interactions becomes the difficulty within KS DFT. The simplest approximation is the local-density approximation (LDA), which is based upon exact exchange energy for a uniform electron gas, which can be obtained from the Thomas–Fermi model, and from fits to the correlation energy for a uniform electron gas. Non-interacting systems are relatively easy to solve as the wavefunction can be represented as a Slater determinant of orbitals. Further, the kinetic energy functional of such a system is known exactly. The exchange-correlation part of the total-energy functional remains unknown and must be approximated.

Another approach, less popular than KS DFT but arguably more closely related to the spirit of the original H-K theorems, is orbital-free density functional theory (OFDFT), in which approximate functionals are also used for the kinetic energy of the non-interacting system.

**Note:** Recently, another foundation to construct the DFT without the Hohenberg–Kohn theorems is getting popular, that is, as a Legendre transformation from external potential to electron density. See, e.g., Density Functional Theory – an introduction <sup>[1]</sup>, Rev. Mod. Phys. 78, 865–951 (2006) <sup>[2]</sup>, and references therein. A book, 'The Fundamentals of Density Functional Theory' <sup>[3]</sup> written by H. Eschrig, contains detailed mathematical discussions on the DFT; there is a difficulty for *N*-particle system with infinite volume; however, we have no mathematical problems in finite periodic system (torus). Note that the correspondence between density and potential should be very non-analytic (for example, we have boundaries in the space of one-particle potential; e.g, those between metal and insulator).

### **Derivation and formalism**

As usual in many-body electronic structure calculations, the nuclei of the treated molecules or clusters are seen as fixed (the Born–Oppenheimer approximation), generating a static external potential V in which the electrons are moving. A stationary electronic state is then described by a wavefunction  $\Psi(\vec{r}_1, \ldots, \vec{r}_N)$  satisfying the many-electron time-independent Schrödinger equation

$$\hat{H}\Psi = \left[\hat{T} + \hat{V} + \hat{U}\right]\Psi = \left[\sum_{i}^{N} \left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_i}\nabla_i^2\right) + \sum_{i}^{N} V(\vec{r_i}) + \sum_{i < j}^{N} U(\vec{r_i}, \vec{r_j})\right]\Psi = E\Psi$$

where, for the N-electron system,  $\hat{H}$  is the Hamiltonian, E is the total energy,  $\hat{T}$  is the kinetic energy,  $\hat{V}$  is the potential energy from the external field due to positively charged nuclei, and  $\hat{U}$  is the electron-electron interaction energy. The operators  $\hat{T}$  and  $\hat{U}$  are called universal operators as they are the same for any N-electron system, while  $\hat{V}$  is system dependent. This complicated many-particle equation is not separable into simpler single-particle

equations because of the interaction term  $\hat{II}$ .

There are many sophisticated methods for solving the many-body Schrödinger equation based on the expansion of the wavefunction in Slater determinants. While the simplest one is the Hartree–Fock method, more sophisticated approaches are usually categorized as post-Hartree–Fock methods. However, the problem with these methods is the huge computational effort, which makes it virtually impossible to apply them efficiently to larger, more complex systems.

Here DFT provides an appealing alternative, being much more versatile as it provides a way to systematically map the many-body problem, with  $\hat{U}$ , onto a single-body problem without  $\hat{U}$ . In DFT the key variable is the particle density  $n(\vec{r})$ , which for a normalized  $\Psi$  is given by

$$n(\vec{r}) = N \int \mathrm{d}^3 r_2 \int \mathrm{d}^3 r_3 \cdots \int \mathrm{d}^3 r_N \Psi^*(\vec{r}, \vec{r}_2, \dots, \vec{r}_N) \Psi(\vec{r}, \vec{r}_2, \dots, \vec{r}_N).$$

This relation can be reversed, i.e. for a given ground-state density  $n_0(\vec{r})$  it is possible, in principle, to calculate the corresponding ground-state wavefunction  $\Psi_0(\vec{r}_1, \ldots, \vec{r}_N)$ . In other words,  $\Psi$  is a unique functional of  $n_0$ ,

$$\Psi_0 = \Psi[n_0]$$

and consequently the ground-state expectation value of an observable  $\hat{O}$  is also a functional of  $n_0$ 

$$O[n_0] = \left\langle \Psi[n_0] \left| \hat{O} \right| \Psi[n_0] 
ight
angle.$$

In particular, the ground-state energy is a functional of  $n_0$ 

$$E_0 = E[n_0] = \left\langle \Psi[n_0] \left| \hat{T} + \hat{V} + \hat{U} \right| \Psi[n_0] \right\rangle$$

where the contribution of the external potential  $\langle \Psi[n_0] | \hat{V} | \Psi[n_0] \rangle$  can be written explicitly in terms of the ground-state density  $n_0$ 

$$V[n_0] = \int V(\vec{r}) n_0(\vec{r}) \mathrm{d}^3 r.$$

More generally, the contribution of the external potential  $\langle \Psi | \hat{V} | \Psi \rangle$  can be written explicitly in terms of the density n,

$$V[n] = \int V(ec{r}) n(ec{r}) \mathrm{d}^3 r.$$

The functionals T[n] and U[n] are called universal functionals, while V[n] is called a non-universal functional, as it depends on the system under study. Having specified a system, i.e., having specified  $\hat{V}$ , one then has to minimize the functional

$$E[n] = T[n] + U[n] + \int V(\vec{r})n(\vec{r})d^3r$$

with respect to  $n(\vec{r})$ , assuming one has got reliable expressions for T[n] and U[n]. A successful minimization of the energy functional will yield the ground-state density  $n_0$  and thus all other ground-state observables.

The variational problems of minimizing the energy functional E[n] can be solved by applying the Lagrangian method of undetermined multipliers. First, one considers an energy functional that doesn't explicitly have an electron-electron interaction energy term,

$$E_s[n] = \left\langle \Psi_s[n] \left| \hat{T} + \hat{V}_s \right| \Psi_s[n] 
ight
angle$$

where  $\hat{T}$  denotes the kinetic energy operator and  $\hat{V}_s$  is an external effective potential in which the particles are moving, so that  $n_s(\vec{r}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} n(\vec{r})$ .

Thus, one can solve the so-called Kohn-Sham equations of this auxiliary non-interacting system,

$$\left[-rac{\hbar^2}{2m}
abla^2+V_s(ec{r})
ight]\phi_i(ec{r})=\epsilon_i\phi_i(ec{r})$$

which yields the orbitals  $\phi_i$  that reproduce the density  $n(\vec{r})$  of the original many-body system

$$n(ec{r}) \stackrel{ ext{def}}{=} n_s(ec{r}) = \sum_i^N \left| \phi_i(ec{r}) 
ight|^2.$$

The effective single-particle potential can be written in more detail as

$$V_s(ec{r}) = V(ec{r}) + \int rac{e^2 n_s(ec{r}')}{|ec{r}-ec{r}'|} \mathrm{d}^3 r' + V_{\mathrm{XC}}[n_s(ec{r})]$$

where the second term denotes the so-called Hartree term describing the electron-electron Coulomb repulsion, while the last term  $V_{\rm XC}$  is called the exchange-correlation potential. Here,  $V_{\rm XC}$  includes all the many-particle interactions. Since the Hartree term and  $V_{\rm XC}$  depend on  $n(\vec{r})$ , which depends on the  $\phi_i$ , which in turn depend on  $V_s$ , the problem of solving the Kohn–Sham equation has to be done in a self-consistent (i.e., iterative) way. Usually one starts with an initial guess for  $n(\vec{r})$ , then calculates the corresponding  $V_s$  and solves the Kohn-Sham equations for the  $\phi_i$ . From these one calculates a new density and starts again. This procedure is then repeated until convergence is reached. A non-iterative approximate formulation called Harris functional DFT is an alternative approach to this.

### **Approximations (exchange-correlation functionals)**

The major problem with DFT is that the exact functionals for exchange and correlation are not known except for the free electron gas. However, approximations exist which permit the calculation of certain physical quantities quite accurately. In physics the most widely used approximation is the local-density approximation (LDA), where the functional depends only on the density at the coordinate where the functional is evaluated:

$$E_{ ext{xc}}^{ ext{LDA}}[n] = \int \epsilon_{ ext{xc}}(n) n(ec{r}) ext{d}^3 r.$$

The local spin-density approximation (LSDA) is a straightforward generalization of the LDA to include electron spin:

$$E_{
m XC}^{
m LSDA}[n_{\uparrow},n_{\downarrow}] = \int \epsilon_{
m XC}(n_{\uparrow},n_{\downarrow})n(ec{r}){
m d}^3r.$$

Highly accurate formulae for the exchange-correlation energy density  $\epsilon_{\text{XC}}(n_{\uparrow}, n_{\downarrow})$  have been constructed from quantum Monte Carlo simulations of jellium.

Generalized gradient approximations (GGA) are still local but also take into account the gradient of the density at the same coordinate:

$$E_{XC}^{
m GGA}[n_{\uparrow},n_{\downarrow}] = \int \epsilon_{XC}(n_{\uparrow},n_{\downarrow},ec{
abla}n_{\uparrow},ec{
abla}n_{\downarrow})n(ec{r}){
m d}^3r.$$

Using the latter (GGA) very good results for molecular geometries and ground-state energies have been achieved.

Potentially more accurate than the GGA functionals are the meta-GGA functionals, a natural development after the GGA (generalized gradient approximation). Meta-GGA DFT functional in its original form includes the second derivative of the electron density (the Laplacian) whereas GGA includes only the density and its first derivative in the exchange-correlation potential.

Functionals of this type are, for example, TPSS and the Minnesota Functionals. These functionals include a further term in the expansion, depending on the density, the gradient of the density and the Laplacian (second derivative) of the density.

Difficulties in expressing the exchange part of the energy can be relieved by including a component of the exact exchange energy calculated from Hartree–Fock theory. Functionals of this type are known as hybrid functionals.

### Generalizations to include magnetic fields

The DFT formalism described above breaks down, to various degrees, in the presence of a vector potential, i.e. a magnetic field. In such a situation, the one-to-one mapping between the ground-state electron density and wavefunction is lost. Generalizations to include the effects of magnetic fields have led to two different theories: current density functional theory (CDFT) and magnetic field density functional theory (BDFT). In both these theories, the functional used for the exchange and correlation must be generalized to include more than just the electron density. In current density functional theory, developed by Vignale and Rasolt, the functionals become dependent on both the electron density and the paramagnetic current density. In magnetic field density functional theory, developed by Salsbury, Grayce and Harris, the functionals depend on the electron density and the magnetic field. In both of these theories it has been difficult to develop functionals beyond their equivalent to LDA, which are also readily implementable computationally.

### Applications

In practice, Kohn-Sham theory can be applied in several distinct ways depending on what is being investigated. In solid state calculations, the local density approximations are still commonly used along with plane wave basis sets, as an electron gas approach is more appropriate for electrons delocalised through an infinite solid. In molecular calculations, however, more sophisticated functionals are needed, and a huge variety of exchange-correlation functionals have been developed for chemical applications. Some of these are inconsistent with the uniform electron gas approximation, however, they must reduce to LDA in the electron gas limit. Among physicists, probably the most widely used functional is the revised Perdew–Burke–Ernzerhof exchange model (a direct generalized-gradient parametrization of the free electron gas with no free parameters); however,



C<sub>60</sub> with isosurface of ground-state electron density as calculated with DFT.

this is not sufficiently calorimetrically accurate for gas-phase molecular calculations. In the chemistry community, one popular functional is known as BLYP (from the name Becke for the exchange part and Lee, Yang and Parr for the correlation part). Even more widely used is B3LYP which is a hybrid functional in which the exchange energy, in this case from Becke's exchange functional, is combined with the exact energy from Hartree–Fock theory. Along with the component exchange and correlation functionals, three parameters define the hybrid functional, specifying how much of the exact exchange is mixed in. The adjustable parameters in hybrid functionals are generally fitted to a 'training set' of molecules. Unfortunately, although the results obtained with these functionals are usually sufficiently accurate for most applications, there is no systematic way of improving them (in contrast to some of the traditional wavefunction-based methods like configuration interaction or coupled cluster theory). Hence in the current DFT approach it is not possible to estimate the error of the calculations without comparing them to other methods or experiments.

#### Thomas–Fermi model

The predecessor to density functional theory was the **Thomas–Fermi model**, developed independently by both Thomas and Fermi in 1927. They used a statistical model to approximate the distribution of electrons in an atom. The mathematical basis postulated that electrons are distributed uniformly in phase space with two electrons in every  $h^3$  of volume. For each element of coordinate space volume  $d^3r$  we can fill out a sphere of momentum space up to the Fermi momentum  $p_f$ 

$$(4/3)\pi p_f^3(\vec{r}).$$

Equating the number of electrons in coordinate space to that in phase space gives:

$$n(\vec{r}) = rac{8\pi}{3h^3} p_f^3(\vec{r}).$$

Solving for  $p_f$  and substituting into the classical kinetic energy formula then leads directly to a kinetic energy represented as a functional of the electron density:

$$egin{aligned} t_{TF}[n] &= rac{p^2}{2m_e} \propto rac{(n^{1/3})^2}{2m_e} \propto n^{2/3}(ec{r}) \ T_{TF}[n] &= C_F \int n(ec{r}) n^{2/3}(ec{r}) d^3r = C_F \int n^{5/3}(ec{r}) d^3r \ where \ C_F &= rac{3h^2}{10m_e} \left(rac{3}{8\pi}
ight)^{2/3}. \end{aligned}$$

As such, they were able to calculate the energy of an atom using this kinetic energy functional combined with the classical expressions for the nuclear-electron and electron-electron interactions (which can both also be represented in terms of the electron density).

Although this was an important first step, the Thomas–Fermi equation's accuracy is limited because the resulting kinetic energy functional is only approximate, and because the method does not attempt to represent the exchange energy of an atom as a conclusion of the Pauli principle. An exchange energy functional was added by Dirac in 1928.

However, the Thomas–Fermi–Dirac theory remained rather inaccurate for most applications. The largest source of error was in the representation of the kinetic energy, followed by the errors in the exchange energy, and due to the complete neglect of electron correlation.

Teller (1962) showed that Thomas–Fermi theory cannot describe molecular bonding. This can be overcome by improving the kinetic energy functional.

The kinetic energy functional can be improved by adding the Weizsäcker (1935) correction:

$$T_W[n] = rac{1}{8} rac{\hbar^2}{m} \int rac{|
abla n(ec r)|^2}{n(ec r)} d^3r$$

### Hohenberg–Kohn theorems

1. If two systems of electrons, one trapped in a potential  $v_1(\vec{r})$  and the other in  $v_2(\vec{r})$ , have the same ground-state density  $n(\vec{r})$  then necessarily  $v_1(\vec{r}) - v_2(\vec{r}) = const$ .

Corollary: the ground state density uniquely determines the potential and thus all properties of the system, including the many-body wave function. In particular, the "HK" functional, defined as F[n] = T[n] + U[n] is a universal functional of the density (not depending explicitly on the external potential).

2. For any positive integer N and potential  $v(\vec{r})$  it exists a density functional F[n] such that  $E_{(v,N)}[n] = F[n] + \int v(\vec{r})n(\vec{r})d^3r$  obtains its minimal value at the ground-state density of N electrons in the potential  $v(\vec{r})$ . The minimal value of  $E_{(v,N)}[n]$  is then the ground state energy of this system.

### **Pseudo-potentials**

The many electron Schrödinger equation can be very much simplified if electrons are divided in two groups: valence electrons and inner core electrons. The electrons in the inner shells are strongly bound and do not play a significant role in the chemical binding of atoms; they also partially screen the nucleus, thus forming with the nucleus an almost inert core. Binding properties are almost completely due to the valence electrons, especially in metals and semiconductors. This separation suggests that inner electrons can be ignored in a large number of cases, thereby reducing the atom to an ionic core that interacts with the valence electrons. The use of an effective interaction, a

pseudopotential, that approximates the potential felt by the valence electrons, was first proposed by Fermi in 1934 and Hellmann in 1935. In spite of the simplification pseudo-potentials introduce in calculations, they remained forgotten until the late 50's.

#### Ab initio Pseudo-potentials

A crucial step toward more realistic pseudo-potentials was given by Topp and Hopfield and more recently Cronin, who suggested that the pseudo-potential should be adjusted such that they describe the valence charge density accurately. Based on that idea, modern pseudo-potentials are obtained inverting the free atom Schrödinger equation for a given reference electronic configuration and forcing the pseudo wave-functions to coincide with the true valence wave functions beyond a certain distance  $rl_{.}$ . The pseudo wave-functions are also forced to have the same norm as the true valence wave-functions and can be written as

$$egin{aligned} R_{
m l}^{
m pp}(r) &= R_{
m nl}^{
m AE}(r). \ \int_{0}^{rl} dr |R_{
m l}^{
m PP}(r)|^2 r^2 &= \int_{0}^{rl} dr |R_{
m nl}^{
m AE}(r)|^2 r^2. \end{aligned}$$

where  $R_1(r)$  is the radial part of the wavefunction with angular momentum  $l_1$ , and pp and  $AE_1$  denote, respectively, the pseudo wave-function and the true (all-electron) wave-function. The index n in the true wave-functions denotes the valence level. The distance beyond which the true and the pseudo wave-functions are equal,  $rl_1$ , is also  $l_1$ -dependent.

### Software supporting DFT

DFT is supported by many Quantum chemistry and solid state physics software, often along with other methods. Versatile software packages for DFT include: the Vienna Ab initio Simulation Package (VASP),<sup>[4]</sup> QUANTUM-ESPRESSO,<sup>[5]</sup> ABINIT, GPAW,<sup>[6]</sup> Gaussian,<sup>[7]</sup> BigDFT, WIEN2k and so on.<sup>[8]</sup>

### References

- [1] http://arxiv.org/abs/physics/9806013
- [2] http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.78.865
- [3] http://www.ifw-dresden.de/institutes/itf/members-groups/helmut-eschrig/dft.pdf
- [4] https://www.vasp.at/
- [5] http://www.quantum-espresso.org/
- [6] https://wiki.fysik.dtu.dk/gpaw/
- [7] http://www.gaussian.com/
- [8] http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List\_of\_quantum\_chemistry\_and\_solid-state\_physics\_software

# Bibliography

Parr, R. G.; Yang, W. (1989). *Density-Functional Theory of Atoms and Molecules* (http://books.google.com/?id=mGOpScSIwU4C&printsec=frontcover&dq=Density-Functional+Theory+of+Atoms+and+Molecules&cd=1#v=onepage&q). New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-504279-4.. ISBN 0-19-509276-7 (paperback). Missing or empty |title= (help)

# **Key papers**

- Thomas, L. H. (1927). "The calculation of atomic fields". *Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc* 23 (5): 542–548. Bibcode: 1927PCPS...23..542T (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1927PCPS...23..542T). doi: 10.1017/S0305004100011683 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0305004100011683).
- Hohenberg, P.; Kohn, W. (1964). "Inhomogeneous Electron Gas". *Physical Review* 136 (3B): B864. Bibcode: 1964PhRv..136..864H (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1964PhRv..136..864H). doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.136.B864 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.136.B864).

- Kohn, W.; Sham, L. J. (1965). "Self-Consistent Equations Including Exchange and Correlation Effects". *Physical Review* 140 (4A): A1133. Bibcode: 1965PhRv..140.1133K (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1965PhRv..140. 1133K). doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.140.A1133 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.140.A1133).
- Becke, Axel D. (1993). "Density-functional thermochemistry. III. The role of exact exchange". *The Journal of Chemical Physics* 98 (7): 5648. Bibcode: 1993JChPh..98.5648B (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1993JChPh.. 98.5648B). doi: 10.1063/1.464913 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.464913).
- Lee, Chengteh; Yang, Weitao; Parr, Robert G. (1988). "Development of the Colle-Salvetti correlation-energy formula into a functional of the electron density". *Physical Review B* 37 (2): 785. Bibcode: 1988PhRvB..37..785L (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1988PhRvB..37..785L). doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.37.785 (http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevB.37.785).
- Burke, Kieron; Werschnik, Jan; Gross, E. K. U. (2005). "Time-dependent density functional theory: Past, present, and future". *The Journal of Chemical Physics* 123 (6): 062206. arXiv: cond-mat/0410362 (http://arxiv.org/abs/cond-mat/0410362). Bibcode: 2005JChPh.123f2206B (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2005JChPh. 123f2206B). doi: 10.1063/1.1904586 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.1904586).

# **External links**

- Walter Kohn, Nobel Laureate (http://www.vega.org.uk/video/programme/23) Freeview video interview with Walter on his work developing density functional theory by the Vega Science Trust.
- Klaus Capelle, A bird's-eye view of density-functional theory (http://arxiv.org/abs/cond-mat/0211443)
- Walter Kohn, Nobel Lecture (http://nobelprize.org/chemistry/laureates/1998/kohn-lecture.pdf)
- Density functional theory on arxiv.org (http://xstructure.inr.ac.ru/x-bin/theme3.py?level=1& index1=447765)
- FreeScience Library -> Density Functional Theory (http://freescience.info/books.php?id=30)
- Density Functional Theory an introduction (http://arxiv.org/abs/physics/9806013)
- Electron Density Functional Theory Lecture Notes (http://www.fh.huji.ac.il/~roib/LectureNotes/DFT/ DFT\_Course\_Roi\_Baer.pdf)
- Density Functional Theory through Legendre Transformation (http://ptp.ipap.jp/link?PTP/92/833/) pdf (http://ann.phys.sci.osaka-u.ac.jp/~kotani/pap/924-09.pdf)
- Kieron Burke : Book On DFT : " THE ABC OF DFT " http://dft.uci.edu/materials/bookABCDFT/gamma/ g1.pdf
- Modeling Materials Continuum, Atomistic and Multiscale Techniques, Book (http://www.modelingmaterials. org/the-books)

# Quantum chemistry composite methods



**Quantum chemistry composite methods** (also referred to as thermochemical recipes) are computational chemistry methods that aim for high accuracy by combining the results of several calculations. They combine methods with a high level of theory and a small basis set with methods that employ lower levels of theory with larger basis sets. They are commonly used to calculate thermodynamic quantities such as enthalpies of formation, atomization energies, ionization energies and electron affinities. They aim for chemical accuracy which is usually defined as within 1 kcal/mol of the experimental value. The first systematic model chemistry of this type with broad applicability was called Gaussian-1 (G1) introduced by John Pople. This was quickly replaced by the Gaussian-2 (G2) which has been used extensively. The Gaussian-3 (G3) was introduced later.

# **Gaussian-n Theories**

### Gaussian-2 (G2)

The G2 uses seven calculations:

- 1. the molecular geometry is obtained by a MP2 optimization using the 6-31G(d) basis set and all electrons included in the perturbation. This geometry is used for all subsequent calculations.
- 2. The highest level of theory is a quadratic configuration interaction calculation with single and double excitations and a triples excitation contribution (QCISD(T)) with the 6-311G(d) basis set. Such a calculation in the Gaussian and Spartan programs also give the MP2 and MP4 energies which are also used.
- 3. The effect of polarization functions is assessed using an MP4 calculation with the 6-311G(2df,p) basis set.
- 4. The effect of diffuse functions is assessed using an MP4 calculation with the 6-311+G(d, p) basis set.
- 5. The largest basis set is 6-311+G(3df,2p) used at the MP2 level of theory.

- 6. A Hartree-Fock geometry optimization with the 6-31G(d) basis set used to give a geometry for:
- 7. A frequency calculation with the 6-31G(d) basis set to obtain the zero-point vibrational energy (ZPVE)

The various energy changes are assumed to be additive so the combined energy is given by:

EQCISD(T) from 2 + [EMP4 from 3 - EMP4 from 2] + [EMP4 from 4 - EMP4 from 2] + [EMP2 from 5 + EMP2 from 2 - EMP2 from 3 - EMP2 from 4]

The second term corrects for the effect of adding the polarization functions. The third term corrects for the diffuse functions. The final term corrects for the larger basis set with the terms from steps 2, 3 and 4 preventing contributions from being counted twice. Two final corrections are made to this energy. The ZPVE is scaled by 0.8929. An empirical correction is then added to account for factors not considered above. This is called the higher level correction (HC) and is given by -0.00481 x (number of valence electrons -0.00019 x (number of unpaired valence electrons). The two numbers are obtained calibrating the results against the experimental results for a set of molecules. The scaled ZPVE and the HLC are added to give the final energy. For some molecules containing one of the third row elements Ga - Xe, a further term is added to account for spin orbit coupling.

Several variants of this procedure have been used. Removing steps 3 and 4 and relying only on the MP2 result from step 5 is significantly cheaper and only slightly less accurate. This is the G2MP2 method. Sometimes the geometry is obtained using a density functional theory method such as B3LYP and sometimes the QCISD(T) method in step 1 is replaced by the coupled cluster method CCSD(T).

#### Gaussian-3 (G3)

The G3 is very similar to G2 but learns from the experience with G2 theory. The 6-311G basis set is replaced by the smaller 6-31G basis. The final MP2 calculations use a larger basis set, generally just called G3large, and correlating all the electrons not just the valence electrons as in G2 theory, additionally a spin-orbit correction term and an empirical correction for valence electrons are introduced. This gives some core correlation contributions to the final energy. The HLC takes the same form but with different empirical parameters. A Gaussian-4 method has been introduced. An alternative to the Gaussian-n methods is the correlation consistent composite method.

#### Gaussian-4 (G4)

Gaussian 4 (G4) theory is an approach for the calculation of energies of molecular species containing first-row (Li–F), second-row (Na–Cl), and third row main group elements. G4 theory is an improved modification of the earlier approach G3 theory. The modifications to G3- theory are the change in an estimate of the Hartree-Fock energy limit, an expanded polarization set for the large basis set calculation, use of CCSD(T) energies, use of geometries from density functional theory and zero-point energies, and two added higher level correction parameters. According to the developers, this theory gives significant improvement over G3-theory.

### **T1**

The T1 method. is an efficient computational approach developed for calculating accurate heats of formation of uncharged, closed-shell molecules comprising H, C, N, O, F, Si, P, S, Cl and Br, within experimental error. It is practical for molecules up to molecular weight ~ 500 a.m.u.

T1 method as incorporated in Spartan consists of:

- 1. HF/6-31G\* optimization.
- 2. RI-MP2/6-311+G(2d,p)[6-311G\*] single point energy with dual basis set.
- An empirical correction using atom counts, Mulliken bond orders, HF/6-31G\* and RI-MP2 energies as variables.

T1 follows the G3(MP2) recipe, however, by substituting an HF/6-31G\* for the MP2/6-31G\* geometry, eliminating both the HF/6-31G\* frequency and QCISD(T)/6-31G\* energy and approximating the MP2/G3MP2large energy using dual basis set



RI-MP2 techniques, the T1 method reduces computation time by up to 3 orders of magnitude. Atom counts, Mulliken bond orders and HF/6-31G\* and RI-MP2 energies are introduced as variables in a linear regression fit to a set of 1126 G3(MP2) heats of formation. The T1 procedure reproduces these values with mean absolute and RMS errors of 1.8 and 2.5 kJ/mol, respectively. T1 reproduces experimental heats of formation for a set of 1805 diverse organic molecules from the NIST thermochemical database with mean absolute and RMS errors of 8.5 and 11.5 kJ/mol, respectively.

### **Correlation consistent Composite Approach (ccCA)**

This approach, developed at the University of North Texas by Angela K. Wilson's research group, utilizes the correlation consistent basis sets developed by Dunning and co-workers. Unlike the Gaussian-n methods, ccCA does not contain any empirically fitted term. The B3LYP density functional method with the cc-pVTZ basis set, and cc-pV(T+d)Z for third row elements (Na - Ar), are used to determine the equilibrium geometry. Single point calculations are then used to find the reference energy and additional contributions to the energy. The total ccCA energy for main group is calculated by:

 $E_{ccCA} = E_{MP2/CBS} + \Delta E_{CC} + \Delta E_{CV} + \Delta E_{SR} + \Delta E_{ZPE} + \Delta E_{SO}$ 

The reference energy  $E_{MP2/CBS}$  is the MP2/aug-cc-pVnZ (where n=D,T,Q) energies extrapolated at the complete basis set limit by the Peterson mixed gaussian exponential extrapolation scheme. CCSD(T)/cc-pVTZ is used to account for correlation beyond the MP2 theory:

 $\Delta E_{CC} = E_{CCSD(T)/cc-pVTZ} - E_{MP2/cc-pVTZ}$ 

Core-core and core-valence interactions are accounted for using MP2(FC1)/aug-cc-pCVTZ:

 $\Delta E_{CV} = E_{MP2(FC1)/aug-cc-pCVTZ} - E_{MP2/aug-cc-pVTZ}$ 

Scalar relativistic effects are also taken into account with a one-particle Douglass Kroll Hess Hamiltonian and recontracted basis sets:

 $\Delta E_{SR} = E_{MP2-DK/cc-pVTZ-DK} - E_{MP2/cc-pVTZ}$ 

The last two terms are Zero Point Energy corrections scaled with a factor of 0.989 to account for deficiencies in the harmonic approximation and spin-orbit corrections considered only for atoms.

# Complete basis set methods (CBS)

These methods by Petersson and coworkers<sup>[2]</sup> have some similarity to G2 and G3 but contain an MP2 extrapolation to the complete basis set limit as one step.

# Weizmann-*n* Theories

The Weizmann-*n* ab initio methods (W*n*, n = 1-4) are highly-accurate composite theories devoid of empirical parameters. These theories are capable of sub-kJ/mol accuracies in prediction of fundamental thermochemical quantities such as heats of formation and atomization energies, and unprecedented accuracies in prediction of spectroscopic constants. The ability of these theories to successfully reproduce the CCSD(T)/CBS (W1 and W2), CCSDT(Q)/CBS (W3), and CCSDTQ5/CBS (W4) energies relies on judicious combination of very large Gaussian basis sets with basis-set extrapolation techniques. Thus, the high accuracy of W*n* theories comes with the price of a significant computational cost. In practice, for systems consisting of more than ~9 non-hydrogen atoms (with C1 symmetry), even the computationally more economical W1 theory becomes prohibitively expensive with current mainstream server hardware.

In an attempt to extend the applicability of the W1 and W2 ab initio thermochemistry methods, explicitly correlated versions of these theories have been developed (W1–F12 and W2–F12). W1–F12 was successfully applied to large aromatic systems (e.g., tetracene) as well as to systems of biological relevance (e.g., DNA bases).

# References

[1] (http://webbook.nist.gov/chemistry/) NIST Chemistry WebBook

- [2] http://www.wesleyan.edu/chem/faculty/petersson/
- Cramer, Christopher J. (2002). *Essentials of Computational Chemistry*. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons. pp. 224–228. ISBN 0-471-48552-7.
- Jensen, Frank (2007). *Introduction to Computational Chemistry*. Chichester, England: John Wiley and Sons. pp. 164–169. ISBN 0-470-01187-4.

# **Quantum Monte Carlo**



**Quantum Monte Carlo** is a large class of computer algorithms that simulate quantum systems with the idea of solving the quantum many-body problem. They use, in one way or another, the Monte Carlo method to handle the many-dimensional integrals that arise. Quantum Monte Carlo allows a direct representation of many-body effects in the wave function, at the cost of statistical uncertainty that can be reduced with more simulation time. For bosons without frustration, there exist numerically exact and polynomial-scaling algorithms. For fermions, there exist very good approximations and numerically exact exponentially scaling quantum Monte Carlo algorithms, but none that are both.

# Background

In principle, any physical system can be described by the many-body Schrödinger equation as long as the constituent particles are not moving "too" fast; that is, they are not moving near the speed of light. This covers a wide range of electronic problems in condensed matter physics, so if we could solve the Schrödinger equation for a given system, we could predict its behavior, which has important applications in fields from computers to biology. This also includes the nuclei in Bose–Einstein condensate and superfluids such as liquid helium. The difficulty is that the Schrödinger equation involves a function of a number of coordinates that is exponentially large in the number of particles, and is therefore difficult, if not impossible, to solve even using parallel computing technology in a reasonable amount of time. Traditionally, theorists have approximated the many-body wave function as an antisymmetric function of one-body orbitals.<sup>[1]</sup> This kind of formulation either limits the possible wave functions, as in the case of the Hartree-Fock (HF) approximation, or converges very slowly, as in configuration interaction. One of the reasons for the difficulty with an HF initial estimate (ground state seed, also known as Slater determinant) is that it is very difficult to model the electronic and nuclear cusps in the wavefunction. However, one does not

generally model at this point of the approximation. As two particles approach each other, the wavefunction has exactly known derivatives.

Quantum Monte Carlo is a way around these problems because it allows us to model a many-body wavefunction of our choice directly. Specifically, we can use a Hartree-Fock approximation as our starting point but then multiplying it by any symmetric function, of which Jastrow functions are typical, designed to enforce the cusp conditions. Most methods aim at computing the ground state wavefunction of the system, with the exception of path integral Monte Carlo and finite-temperature auxiliary field Monte Carlo, which calculate the density matrix.

There are several quantum Monte Carlo methods, each of which uses Monte Carlo in different ways to solve the many-body problem:

# **Quantum Monte Carlo methods**

- Stochastic Green function (SGF) algorithm : An algorithm designed for bosons that can simulate any complicated lattice Hamiltonian that does not have a sign problem. Used in combination with a directed update scheme, this is a powerful tool.
- Variational Monte Carlo : A good place to start; it is commonly used in many sorts of quantum problems.
- Diffusion Monte Carlo : The most common high-accuracy method for electrons (that is, chemical problems), since it comes quite close to the exact ground-state energy fairly efficiently. Also used for simulating the quantum behavior of atoms, etc.
- Path integral Monte Carlo : Finite-temperature technique mostly applied to bosons where temperature is very important, especially superfluid helium.
- Auxiliary field Monte Carlo : Usually applied to lattice problems, although there has been recent work on applying it to electrons in chemical systems.
- Reptation Monte Carlo : Recent zero-temperature method related to path integral Monte Carlo, with applications similar to diffusion Monte Carlo but with some different tradeoffs.
- Gaussian quantum Monte Carlo

# Implementations

- ALPS <sup>[2]</sup>
- CASINO<sup>[3]</sup>
- CHAMP <sup>[4]</sup>
- Monte Python<sup>[5]</sup>
- PIMC++<sup>[6]</sup>
- pi-qmc <sup>[7]</sup>
- QMcBeaver<sup>[8]</sup>
- OmcMol<sup>[9]</sup>
- QMCPACK <sup>[10]</sup>
- Qumax <sup>[11]</sup>
- Qwalk <sup>[12]</sup>
- TurboRVB<sup>[13]</sup>
- Zori <sup>[14]</sup>

# References

- [1] Functional form of the wave function (http://www.attaccalite.altervista.org/PhDThesis/html/node9.html)
- [2] http://alps.comp-phys.org/mediawiki/
- [3] http://www.tcm.phy.cam.ac.uk/~mdt26/casino2.html
- [4] http://pages.physics.cornell.edu/~cyrus/champ.html
- [5] http://code.google.com/p/montepython/
- [6] http://cms.mcc.uiuc.edu/pimcpp/
- [7] http://code.google.com/p/pi-qmc/
- [8] http://qmcbeaver.sourceforge.net/
- [9] http://www.lct.jussieu.fr/pagesequipe/qmcmol/qmcmol/
- [10] http://qmcpack.cmscc.org/
- [11] http://attaccalite.altervista.org/qumax/index.php
- [12] http://www.qwalk.org/
- [13] http://qe-forge.org/gf/project/turborvb/
- [14] http://www.zori-code.com/
- V. G. Rousseau (May 2008). "Stochastic Green Function (SGF) algorithm". *Phys. Rev. E* 77 (5): 056705. arXiv: 0711.3839 (http://arxiv.org/abs/0711.3839). Bibcode: 2008PhRvE..77e6705R (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2008PhRvE..77e6705R). doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.77.056705 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.77.056705).
- Hammond, B.J.; W.A. Lester & P.J. Reynolds (1994). Monte Carlo Methods in Ab Initio Quantum Chemistry. Singapore: World Scientific. ISBN 981-02-0321-7. OCLC 29594695 (http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/ 29594695).
- Nightingale, M.P.; Umrigar, Cyrus J., ed. (1999). *Quantum Monte Carlo Methods in Physics and Chemistry*. Springer. ISBN 978-0-7923-5552-6.
- W. M. C. Foulkes; L. Mitáš, R. J. Needs and G. Rajagopal (5 January 2001). "Quantum Monte Carlo simulations of solids". *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 73: 33–83. Bibcode: 2001RvMP...73...33F (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2001RvMP...73...33F). doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.73.33 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.73.33).
- Raimundo R. dos Santos (2003). "Introduction to Quantum Monte Carlo simulations for fermionic systems". *Braz. J. Phys.* 33: 36. arXiv: cond-mat/0303551 (http://arxiv.org/abs/cond-mat/0303551). Bibcode: 2003cond.mat..3551D (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2003cond.mat..3551D). doi: 10.1590/S0103-97332003000100003 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0103-97332003000100003).

# **External links**

- QMCWIKI (http://www.qmcwiki.org/)
- Joint DEMOCRITOS-ICTP School on Continuum Quantum Monte Carlo Methods (http://cdsagenda5.ictp. trieste.it/full\_display.php?ida=a0332&fid=)
- FreeScience Library Quantum Monte Carlo (http://freescience.info/books.php?id=35)
- UIUC 2007 Summer School on Computational Materials Science: Quantum Monte Carlo from Minerals and Materials to Molecules (http://www.mcc.uiuc.edu/summerschool/2007/qmc/)
- Quantum Monte Carlo in the Apuan Alps VIII (http://www.vallico.net/tti/tti.html) international QMC workshop, Vallico Sotto, Tuscany, Italy, 27 July 3 August 2013 Announcement (http://www.vallico.net/tti/ qmcitaa\_13/), Poster (http://www.tcm.phy.cam.ac.uk/~mdt26/posterc13.png)
- Quantum Monte Carlo and the CASINO program VIII (http://www.vallico.net/tti/tti.html) international QMC summer school, Vallico Sotto, Tuscany, Italy, 4 August 11 August 2013 Announcement (http://www.vallico.net/tti/qmcatcp\_13), Poster (http://www.tcm.phy.cam.ac.uk/~mdt26/poster.png)
- Quantum Monte Carlo simulator (Qwalk) (http://nanohub.org/tools/qwalk)

# K·p perturbation theory



In solid-state physics,  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  perturbation theory is an approximation scheme for calculating the band structure (particularly effective mass) and optical properties of crystalline solids. It is pronounced "k dot p", and is also called the "k·p method". This theory has been applied specifically in the framework of the Luttinger–Kohn model (after Joaquin Mazdak Luttinger and Walter Kohn), and of the Kane model (after Evan O. Kane).

# **Background and derivation**

### **Bloch's theorem and wavevectors**

According to quantum mechanics (in the single-electron approximation), the electrons in any material have wavefunctions which can be described by the following Schrödinger equation:

$$\left(rac{p^2}{2m}+V
ight)\psi=E\psi$$

where **p** is the quantum-mechanical momentum operator, V is the potential, and m is the mass of an electron. (This equation neglects the spin-orbit effect; see below.)

In a crystalline solid, V is a periodic function, with the same periodicity as the crystal lattice. Bloch's theorem proves that the solutions to this differential equation can be written as follows:

$$\psi_{n,\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{x}) = e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}}u_{n,\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{x})$$

where **k** is a vector (called the *wavevector*), *n* is a discrete index (called the *band index*), and  $u_{n,\mathbf{k}}$  is a function with the same periodicity as the crystal lattice.

For any given *n*, the associated states are called a band. In each band, there will be a relation between the wavevector **k** and the energy of the state  $E_{n,\mathbf{k}}$ , called the band dispersion. Calculating this dispersion is one of the primary applications of  $k \cdot p$  perturbation theory.

#### **Perturbation theory**

The periodic function  $u_{nk}$  satisfies the following Schrödinger-type equation:

$$H_{\mathbf{k}}u_{n,\mathbf{k}} = E_{n,\mathbf{k}}u_{n,\mathbf{k}}$$

where the Hamiltonian is

$$H_{\mathbf{k}} = rac{p^2}{2m} + rac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}}{m} + rac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} + V$$

Note that  $\mathbf{k}$  is a vector consisting of three real numbers with units of inverse length, while  $\mathbf{p}$  is a vector of operators; to be explicit,

$$\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p} = k_x(-i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial x}) + k_y(-i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial y}) + k_z(-i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial z})$$

In any case, we write this Hamiltonian as the sum of two terms:

$$H = H_0 + H'_{\mathbf{k}}, \ \ H_0 = rac{p^2}{2m} + V, \ \ H'_{\mathbf{k}} = rac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} + rac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}}{m}$$

This expression is the basis for perturbation theory. The "unperturbed Hamiltonian" is  $H_0$ , which in fact equals the exact Hamiltonian at  $\mathbf{k}=0$  (i.e., at the Gamma point). The "perturbation" is the term  $H'_{\mathbf{k}}$ . The analysis that results is called "k-p perturbation theory", due to the term proportional to  $k \cdot p$ . The result of this analysis is an expression for  $E_{n,\mathbf{k}}$  and  $u_{n,\mathbf{k}}$  in terms of the energies and wavefunctions at  $\mathbf{k}=0$ .

Note that the "perturbation" term  $H'_{\mathbf{k}}$  gets progressively smaller as  $\mathbf{k}$  approaches zero. Therefore, k·p perturbation theory is most accurate for small values of  $\mathbf{k}$ . However, if enough terms are included in the perturbative expansion, then the theory can in fact be reasonably accurate for any value of  $\mathbf{k}$  in the entire Brillouin zone.

#### Expression for a nondegenerate band

For a nondegenerate band (i.e., a band which has a different energy at  $\mathbf{k}=0$  from any other band), with an extremum at  $\mathbf{k}=0$ , and with no spin-orbit coupling, the result of  $k \cdot p$  perturbation theory is (to lowest nontrivial order):

$$u_{n,\mathbf{k}} = u_{n,0} + \frac{\hbar}{m} \sum_{n' \neq n} \frac{\langle u_{n,0} | \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p} | u_{n',0} \rangle}{E_{n,0} - E_{n',0}} u_{n',0}$$
$$E_{n,\mathbf{k}} = E_{n,0} + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} + \frac{\hbar^2}{m^2} \sum_{n' \neq n} \frac{|\langle u_{n,0} | \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p} | u_{n',0} \rangle|^2}{E_{n,0} - E_{n',0}}$$

The parameters that are required to do these calculations, namely  $E_{n,0}$  and  $\langle u_{n,0} | \mathbf{p} | u_{n',0} \rangle$ , are typically inferred from experimental data. (The latter are called "optical matrix elements".)

In practice, the sum over *n* often includes only the nearest one or two bands, since these tend to be the most important (due to the denominator). However, for improved accuracy, especially at larger 'k, more bands must be included, as well as more terms in the perturbative expansion than the ones written above.

#### Effective mass

Using the expression above for the energy dispersion relation, a simplified expression for the effective mass in the conduction band of a semiconductor can be found. To approximate the dispersion relation in the case of the conduction band, take the energy  $E_{n0}$  as the minimum conduction band energy  $E_{c0}$  and include in the summation only terms with energies near the valence band maximum, where the energy difference in the denominator is smallest. (These terms are the largest contributions to the summation.) This denominator is then approximated as the

band gap  $E_{o}$ , leading to an energy expression:

$$E_c(oldsymbol{k})pprox E_{c0}+rac{(\hbar k)^2}{2m}+rac{\hbar^2}{E_gm^2}\sum_n|\langle u_{c,0}|{f k}\cdot{f p}|u_{n,0}
angle|^2$$

The effective mass in direction  $\ell$  is then:

$$rac{1}{m_\ell} = rac{1}{\hbar^2} \sum_m \cdot rac{\partial^{-2} E_c(m{k})}{\partial k_\ell \partial k_m} pprox rac{1}{m} + rac{2}{E_g m^2} \sum_{m, \ n} \langle u_{c,0} | p_\ell | u_{n,0} 
angle \langle u_{n,0} | p_m | u_{c,0} 
angle$$

Ignoring the details of the matrix elements, the key consequences are that the effective mass varies with the smallest bandgap and goes to zero as the gap goes to zero. A useful approximation for the matrix elements in direct gap semiconductors is:<sup>[1]</sup>

$$rac{2}{E_g m^2} \sum_{m, \ n} |\langle u_{c,0} | p_\ell | u_{n,0} 
angle || \langle u_{c,0} | p_m | u_{n,0} 
angle | pprox 20 \mathrm{eV} rac{1}{m E_g} \ ,$$

which applies within about 15% or better to most group-IV, III-V and II-VI semiconductors.<sup>[2]</sup>

In contrast to this simple approximation, in the case of valence band energy the *spin-orbit* interaction must be introduced (see below) and many more bands must be individually considered. The calculation is provided in Yu and Cardona.<sup>[3]</sup> In the valence band the mobile carriers are *holes*. One finds there are two types of hole, named *heavy* and *light*, with anisotropic masses.

#### $k \cdot p$ model with spin-orbit interaction

Including the spin-orbit interaction, the Schrödinger equation for *u* is:

$$H_{\mathbf{k}}u_{n,\mathbf{k}} = E_{n,\mathbf{k}}u_{n,\mathbf{k}}$$

where

$$H_{\mathbf{k}} = rac{p^2}{2m} + rac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}}{m} + rac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} + V + rac{1}{4m^2 c^2} (ec{\sigma} imes 
abla V) \cdot (\hbar \mathbf{k} + \mathbf{p})$$

where  $\vec{\sigma} = (\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z)$  is a vector consisting of the three Pauli matrices. This Hamiltonian can be subjected to the same sort of perturbation-theory analysis as above.

#### Calculation in degenerate case

For degenerate or nearly degenerate bands, in particular the valence bands in certain materials such as gallium arsenide, the equations can be analyzed by the methods of degenerate perturbation theory. Models of this type include the "Luttinger-Kohn model" (a.k.a. "Kohn-Luttinger model"), and the "Kane model".

### Notes and references

- [1] A *direct gap* semiconductor is one where the valence band maximum and conduction band minimum occur at the same position in k-space, usually the so-called  $\Gamma$ -point where  $\mathbf{k} = 0$ .
- [2] See Table 2.22 (http://books.google.com/books?id=W9pdJZoAeyEC&pg=PA244&dq=isbn:3540254706#PPA71,M1) in Yu & Cardona, op. cit.
- [3] See Yu & Cardona, op. cit. pp. 75-82

# **Muffin-tin approximation**

Electronic structure methods
Valence bond theory
Generalized valence bond
Modern valence bond
Molecular orbital theory
Hartree–Fock method
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory
Configuration interaction
Coupled cluster
Multi-configurational self-consistent
field
Quantum chemistry composite methods
Quantum Monte Carlo
Linear combination of atomic orbitals
Electronic band structure
Nearly free electron model
Tight binding
Muffin-tin approximation
Density functional theory
k·p perturbation theory
Empty lattice approximation
😰 Book

The **muffin-tin approximation** is a shape approximation of the potential field in an atomistic environment. It is most commonly employed in quantum mechanical simulations of electronic band structure in solids. The approximation was proposed by John C. Slater. Augmented plane wave method is a method which uses muffin tin approximation. It is a method to approximate the energy states of an electron in a crystal lattice. The basis approximation lies in the potential in which the potential is assumed to be spherically symmetric in the muffin tin region and constant in the interstitial region. Wave functions (the augmented plane waves) are constructed by matching solutions of the Schrödinger equation within each sphere with plane-wave solutions in the interstitial region, and linear combinations of these wave functions are then determined by the variational method Many modern electronic structure methods employ the approximation. Among them are the augmented plane wave (APW) method, the linear muffin-tin orbital method (LMTO) and various Green's function methods. One application is found in the variational theory developed by Korringa (1947) and by Kohn and Rostocker (1954) referred to as the *KKR method*. This method has been adapted to treat random materials as well, where it is called the *KKR coherent potential approximation*.

In its simplest form, non-overlapping spheres are centered on the atomic positions. Within these regions, the screened potential experienced by an electron is approximated to be spherically symmetric about the given nucleus. In the remaining interstitial region, the potential is approximated as a constant. Continuity of the potential between the atom-centered spheres and interstitial region is enforced.

In the interstitial region of constant potential, the single electron wave functions can be expanded in terms of plane waves. In the atom-centered regions, the wave functions can be expanded in terms of spherical harmonics and the eigenfunctions of a radial Schrödinger equation. Such use of functions other than plane waves as basis functions is termed the augmented plane-wave approach (of which there are many variations). It allows for an efficient

representation of single-particle wave functions in the vicinity of the atomic cores where they can vary rapidly (and where plane waves would be a poor choice on convergence grounds in the absence of a pseudopotential).

# References

# LCAO method

Electronic structure methods							
Valence bond theory							
Generalized valence bond							
Modern valence bond							
Molecular orbital theory							
Hartree–Fock method							
Møller-Plesset perturbation theory							
Configuration interaction							
Coupled cluster							
Multi-configurational self-consistent							
field							
Quantum chemistry composite methods							
Quantum Monte Carlo							
Linear combination of atomic orbitals							
Electronic band structure							
Nearly free electron model							
Tight binding							
Muffin-tin approximation							
Density functional theory							
k·p perturbation theory							
Empty lattice approximation							
🙆 Book							

A **linear combination of atomic orbitals** or **LCAO** is a quantum superposition of atomic orbitals and a technique for calculating molecular orbitals in quantum chemistry.<sup>[1]</sup> In quantum mechanics, electron configurations of atoms are described as wavefunctions. In mathematical sense, these wave functions are the basis set of functions, the basis functions, which describe the electrons of a given atom. In chemical reactions, orbital wavefunctions are modified, i.e. the electron cloud shape is changed, according to the type of atoms participating in the chemical bond.

It was introduced in 1929 by Sir John Lennard-Jones with the description of bonding in the diatomic molecules of the first main row of the periodic table, but had been used earlier by Linus Pauling for  $H_2^{+,[2][3]}$ .

A mathematical description follows.

An initial assumption is that the number of molecular orbitals is equal to the number of atomic orbitals included in the linear expansion. In a sense, n atomic orbitals combine to form n molecular orbitals, which can be numbered i = 1 to n and which may not all be the same. The expression (linear expansion) for the *i* th molecular orbital would be:

$$\phi_i = c_{1i}\chi_1 + c_{2i}\chi_2 + c_{3i}\chi_3 + \dots + c_{ni}\chi_n$$

or

$$\phi_i = \sum_r c_{ri} \chi_r$$

where  $\phi_i$  (phi) is a molecular orbital represented as the sum of n atomic orbitals  $\chi_r$  (chi), each multiplied by a corresponding coefficient  $c_{ri}$ , and r (numbered 1 to n) represents which atomic orbital is combined in the term. The coefficients are the weights of the contributions of the n atomic orbitals to the molecular orbital. The Hartree-Fock procedure is used to obtain the coefficients of the expansion.

The orbitals are thus expressed as linear combinations of basis functions, and the basis functions are one-electron functions centered on nuclei of the component atoms of the molecule. The atomic orbitals used are typically those of hydrogen-like atoms since these are known analytically i.e. Slater-type orbitals but other choices are possible like Gaussian functions from standard basis sets.

By minimizing the total energy of the system, an appropriate set of coefficients of the linear combinations is determined. This quantitative approach is now known as the Hartree-Fock method. However, since the development of computational chemistry, the LCAO method often refers not to an actual optimization of the wave function but to a qualitative discussion which is very useful for predicting and rationalizing results obtained via more modern methods. In this case, the shape of the molecular orbitals and their respective energies are deduced approximately from comparing the energies of the atomic orbitals of the individual atoms (or molecular fragments) and applying some recipes known as level repulsion and the like. The graphs that are plotted to make this discussion clearer are called **correlation diagrams**. The required atomic orbital energies can come from calculations or directly from experiment via Koopmans' theorem.

This is done by using the symmetry of the molecules and orbitals involved in bonding. The first step in this process is assigning a point group to the molecule. A common example is water, which is of  $C_{2v}$  symmetry. Then a reducible representation of the bonding is determined demonstrated below for water:

•	C <sub>2v</sub>	E	<b>C</b> <sub>2</sub>	σ <sub>v</sub> (xz)	σ <sub>v</sub> (yz)		
Ţz	A <sub>1</sub>	1	1	1	1	z	$x^2, y^2, z^2$
	A <sub>2</sub>	1	1	-1	-1	R <sub>z</sub>	ху
,;;;,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	<b>B</b> <sub>1</sub>	1	-1	1	-1	x, R <sub>y</sub>	xz
н Тн	<b>B</b> <sub>2</sub>	1	-1	-1	1	y, R <sub>x</sub>	yz
	Γσ	2	0	0	2		

$$\Gamma_{\sigma} = A_1 + B_2$$

Each operation in the point group is performed upon the molecule. The number of bonds that are unmoved is the character of that operation. This reducible representation is decomposed into the sum of irreducible representations. These irreducible representations correspond to the symmetry of the orbitals involved.

MO diagrams provide simple qualitative LCAO treatment.



Quantitative theories are the Huckel method, the extended Huckel method and the Pariser-Parr-Pople method.

# **External links**

• LCAO @ chemistry.umeche.maine.edu Link <sup>[4]</sup>

# References

- [1] Huheey, James. Inorganic Chemistry: Principles of Structure and Reactivity
- [2] Friedrich Hund and Chemistry, Werner Kutzelnigg, on the occasion of Hund's 100th birthday, Angewandte Chemie, 35, 572 586, (1996), http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/anie.199605721
- [3] Robert S. Mulliken's Nobel Lecture, Science, 157, no. 3784, 13 24, (1967)
- [4] http://chemistry.umeche.maine.edu/Modeling/lcao.html

# **Article Sources and Contributors**

Electron configuration Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=574062326 Contributors: 20ver0, 4twenty420, A520, AManWithNoPlan, Ace of Spades IV, Adventurer, Aeluwas, Af648, Aitias, Aldaron, Aleksa Lukic, Alex43223, Alexiohnc3, AlphaEta, Andre Engels, Andres, Ankit.sunrise, Anna Lincoln, Anoop.m, Antandrus, Anthony Applevard, Anville, Appv3, Arag0rn, Aritate, Arthur Rubin, Asaad900, Ashley Y, AstroChemist, Astronautics, AtheWeatherman, Azure8472, Baccyak4H, Bduke, Beetstra, Bender235, Bhludzin, Bliz1, Bomac, Bongwarrior, Brant.merrell, Brian0918, Bth, Bucephalus, Byrgenwulf, Calmargulis, CardinalDan, Cburnett, Cerebellum, CharlotteWebb, Chau7, Chris the speller, Chuckiesdad, Cinderblock63, Coffee, Colin Kimbrell, Crazycomputers, Cremepuff222, Cstaffa, DARTH SIDIOUS 2, DMacks, Dan653, Daniele Pugliesi, Dark Shikari, Darkwind, David/Bryant, Davidwhite18, Ddoherty, DePiep, Deagle AP, Denden0019, Diannaa, Dipanshu.sheru, Dirac1933, Dirac66, Discospinster, Djdaedalus, Djnjwd, Djr32, Dnvrfantj, Donarreiskoffer, Donsimon, Double sharp, DrJolo, Dreg743, Drova, Dumoren, Dysprosia, EEMIV, EagleFan, Earlypsychosis, Epbr123, Erik Zachte, FT2, Falcon8765, Femto, Footballfan190, Fresheneesz, Fucktosh, Fuzzypeg, Fvw, Fzhi555, Gail, GaryW, Gentgeen, Giftlite, Glane23, Glenn L, GrahamColm, Gwickwire, Hadal, HansHermans, Headbomb, Holyhell5050, Hugo-cs, IdealEric, Ilyushka88, Iridescent, J.delanoy, Jacek Kendysz, Janek Kozicki, Javko, Jelson25, Jengelh, John, John Reaves, Johndburger, JohnofPhoenix, Julesd, Juliancolton, KSmra, Karada, KarlHegbloom, KeepItClean, Kevkevkevkev, Kku, Kmarinas86, Kouhoutek, Krazywrath, Kungfuadam, Kurzon, Kwamikagami, LMB, Lanthanum-138, Linas, Lir, LokiClock, Looxix, Lucky 6.9, Luna Santin, M Farooq 2012, MJ94, MZMcBride, Mako098765, Malbi, Manifolded, Marik7772003, Maryann gersaniva, Materialscientist, Matt18224, Mattopia, Mboverload, Meddlingwithfire, Mediran, Michael Hardy, Mor, Mpatel, MrChupon, Mrh30, Mttcmbs, Nakon, Nantaskot, NawlinWiki, Nayuki, Necessary Evil, Nk, Nrcprm2026, Nsmith 84, NuclearWarfare, OMCV, Ojigiri, Oxymoron83, P. B. Mann, Patrick, Patstuart PhilKnight, Physchim62, Pinethicket, Pinkadelica, Pjstewart, Prari, Putodog, Qbmaster, Quibik, Qwyrxian, R3m0t, RG2, RJaguar3, RMFan1, RadioFan, Radon210, RainbowOfLight, Rdsmith4, Redrose64, Res2216firestar, Retireduser1111, RexNL, Robth, Rocketrod1960, Romanm, Rrburke, S h i v a (Visnu), Samanthaclark11, Sbharris, Schmloof, Schwnj, Seaphoto, Sergio.ballestrero, Shadowjams, SimonP, Skier Dude, Skizzik, Smack, SmilesALot, Snoyes, Spacecadet262, Spoon!, Steviedpeele, StradivariusTV, Svick, TBadger, Tamariandre, Teles, Tesi1700, Tetracube, The Anome, The High Fin Sperm Whale, The Thing That Should Not Be, Tide rolls, Timemutt, Timwi, Tiptoety, Tobias Bergemann, TokioHotel93, Topbanana, Trevorhailey1, Tyco.skinner Ulric1313, Unfree, V8rik, Vb, Virtualzx, Vsmith, Wavelength, Weekwhom, WhiteTimberwolf, Wikipelli, X42bn6, Yannledu, Yelyos, Yuk ngan, Jobanb6, محبوب عالم على ويكي (شالا الاحتابة والمراقع) عن المناط المحاسبة ا anonymous edits

Tight binding Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=568332723 Contributors: 1ForTheMoney, Aleks-eng, Bduke, Beatnik8983, Brews ohare, CMG, ChemMater, Conscious, Crowsnest, Custos0, Djmowbray, Down0307, Edsanville, Eg-T2g, El Momo, Eruditio1990, EverettYou, Freddy78, Gekco, Headbomb, Jilidelft, JorisvS, Lagerbaer, Liveste, Matthew cargo, Modify, Niceguyedc, Osewoud, Papa November, Rex the first, S.petter, Sbyrnes321, Shaddack, Sportsdude32383, Stevenj, TDogg310, Tgeairn, TonyMath, Venny85, Welsh, WilliamDParker, 55 anonymous edits

Nearly free electron model Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=542406611 Contributors: BD2412, Bender235, Brews ohare, Charles Matthews, Chymicus, Deklund, DragonflySixtyseven, E-Kartoffel, Eg-T2g, Headbomb, Jilidelft, Jrf, Kri, Maltstripe, Materialscientist, Modify, Osewoud, Reddi, Shaddack, Shim'on, StefanTiran, The Photon, Uncle Dick, Wavelength, Wiki me, Wmahan, 19 anonymous edits

Hartree–Fock method *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=568651591 *Contributors*: AManWithNoPlan, AcidFlask, Arakin, Artem Korzhimanov, Baccyak4H, Bduke, Bender235, Birczanin, Bwmodular, Charles Matthews, Chris the speller, ChrisGualtieri, Complexica, Dicklyon, Dirac66, Djr32, Edsanville, Effeietsanders, Eg-T2g, Eladj, Emiehling, Fauxcouture, Fpahl, Fred Bradstadt, Gaius Cornelius, Giftlite, Gregbard, Guillom, Haljolad, HappyCamper, Headbomb, Isilanes, JaGa, Jbom1, Jonathanfu, Jordi picart, Kaiserkar113, Karol Langner, Keenan Pepper, L0rents, Legoktm, Lehkost, Linas, Maniadis, Michael Hardy, Muijz, Myasuda, Nick Mks, Niteowlneils, Okedem, Oleg Alexandrov, Pavlo Chemist, Peskydan, Pt, Pyfan, Qtsc, Rangek, Rjwilmsi, Sam Hocevar, Sbaharris, Schmloof, Shaddack, Silly rabbit, Snowyowls, Stevertigo, Sunev, Syntax, TDogg310, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, The Land, Tiesinski, Tomturner, TonyW, Trassiorf, Trigger hippie77, Unyoyega, Všrik, Vb, WilliamDParker, 77 anonymous edits

Modern valence bond Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=543328453 Contributors: Aeusoes1, Andreww, Atomizer13, Bduke, Brim, Cnilep, Dirac66, Headbomb, Karol Langner, Markhurd, Mets501, P.wormer, Plinth molecular gathered, Rrburke, Schmloof, Shaddack, Ucu110, Wbm1058, 7 anonymous edits

Generalized valence bond Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=534532939 Contributors: Bduke, Dawynn, Edgar181, Headbomb, Kkmurray, Njmayhall, Pietdesomere, Rjwilmsi, Shaddack, Some standardized rigour, Wbm1058, Wickey-nl, 4 anonymous edits

Møller–Plesset perturbation theory Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=569832478 Contributors: AManWithNoPlan, Andreww, Bduke, Charles Matthews, Chemprofguy, Chris the speller, ChrisGualtieri, Danmichaelo, Dicklyon, Edsanville, Freiddie, GabeIglesia, Grimlock, Jbom1, Karol Langner, Kmarinas86, Michael Hardy, Mild Bill Hiccup, Mr Gronk, P.wormer, Pavlo Chemist, Rifleman 82, Rjwilmsi, Salib, Salsb, Shaddack, StewartMH, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, Wordsmith, 23 anonymous edits

Configuration interaction Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=540383615 Contributors: AManWithNoPlan, Andreww, Ascánder, Bduke, DavidSherrill, Dirac66, Edsanville, Elikrieg, Grimlock, Jan-ThC, Jbom1, Karol Langner, Kmarinas86, Man pl, Ms2ger, Rjwilmsi, Shaddack, Sunev, Vb, WijzeWillem, WilliamDParker, Wpoely86, 12 anonymous edits

Coupled cluster Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=572528629 Contributors: AManWithNoPlan, Andreww, Arteum, Banes, Bduke, Calliopejen1, Cas25, Charles Matthews, Chris the speller, Chymicus, Edsanville, Electronneucleus, FelixP, Fygoat, Gelminator, Grimlock, HappyCamper, Headbomb, HotHello, Isnow, Jahansen, Jbom1, KSmrq, Karol Langner, Kdliss, Kmarinas86, Kraute ruben, LOrents, Linas, Lukeje, Luna Santin, Mboverload, Mikhail Ryazanov, Mushroom, Pavlo Chemist, Pearle, Poszwa, Rangek, Shaddack, Tabletop, Tim Starling, Who, William915, Willi

Multi-configurational self-consistent field Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=541200512 Contributors: AManWithNoPlan, Bduke, Conscious, Cubbi, Edsanville, Eigenskim, Grimlock, Headbomb, Iridescent, Isilanes, Itub, Jbom1, Karol Langner, Kinlee, Michael Hardy, Salsb, Shaddack, TheParanoidOne, WilliamDParker, Wirawan0, 11 anonymous edits

Density functional theory Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=574968456 Contributors: AManWithNoPlan, Ae-a, Agilemolecule, AlbertoCastro, Amirber, Apple2, AskHL, Asrend, Azo bob, Bachrach44, Baxxterr, Bduke, BluePlatypus, Bob K31416, Brews ohare, Buriti, Bwschnei, Charles Matthews, Chemuser, Christian75, Chymicus, Dirac66, Ebuchol, Edsanville, Emersoni, Enpi, Evgeny, FelixP, FineStructure, Fuzheado, Gafnero, Geboy, Geling, Giftlite, Headbomb, Hourahine, Iacommo, Iamthealchemist, Ianbolland, Isilanes, Isnow, Itamblyn, JaGa, Jboml, Jitse Niesen, Joy, Karenjc, Karol Langner, Lfh, Lucaskw, Mark Durst, Matenalscientist, MaxBoldin, Mei-Lien80, Michael Hardy, MrOllie, MuDavid, Myasuda, NNemec, Nanite, Nick Mks, Ouji-fin, P99am, Petulda, Peverati, Poszwa, Pt, Qbit77, Raghunathan, Rangek, Rhobite, Rightsetter, Rjwilmsi, Roib1, Royalbooksnap, Rundquist, Ruud Koot, Salsb, Samprox, Sbandrews, Sbo, SebastianHelm, Shaddack, Shadowjams, Spellchecker, Stone, Sun Creator, Svenbor, TDogg310, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, Tdoune, Terhorstj, Tim Starling, Tobias Bergemann, Tomaok2, Toulouse, Trigger hippie77, V8rk, Vexedd, Vmilman, Vsmith, Wakebrdkid, Wavefunk, WijzeWillem, Wik, WikipAcct, WilliamDParker, Wiz9999, Wjfriend1, Wolf2046, Xavier andrade, Youandme, Zanimum, Zarniwoot, حيلي ديكي, 268 anonymous edits

Quantum chemistry composite methods Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=572549987 Contributors: AManWithNoPlan, Bduke, Brews ohare, Christian75, Concertmusic, DMacks, Damarkian, Grimlock, Jbom1, Ketiltrout, Kmarinas86, Lfh, Qbit77, Rifleman 82, Rjwilmsi, SchreiberBike, Shaddack, Sitech, Wanyi.jiang, Williamseanohlinger, 35 anonymous edits

Quantum Monte Carlo Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=561717439 Contributors: 1ForTheMoney, Acipsen, Amyoungil, Bakken, Bci2, Ciacho5, Conscious, Headbomb, Henry Delforn (old), Isilanes, Jheriko, Karol Langner, Lucaskw, Mdt26a, Melcombe, Michael Hardy, Mm40, NNemec, P99am, Pablomme, Paulcardan, Rbonvall, Rich Farmbrough, Rjwilmsi, Sagaciousuk, Seattle Jörg, Shaddack, Supersion77, TestPilot, Theopolisme, Trigger hippie77, UkPaolo, Veinor, Vgy7ujm, Vyznev Xnebara, WilliamDParker, Wirawan0, 52 anonymous edits

K-p perturbation theory Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=572524537 Contributors: BehnamFarid, Brews ohare, Headbomb, Lowellian, Lowercase Sigma, Magioladitis, Meredyth, Rjwilmsi, S.petter, Sbyrnes321, Seattle Jörg, Shaddack, Syossym, Wavelength, Ysyoon, 9 anonymous edits

Muffin-tin approximation Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=556107704 Contributors: Brews ohare, Cole Petersburg, Eg-T2g, Headbomb, Joriki, Shaddack, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, User A1, 2 anonymous edits

LCAO method *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457182400 *Contributors*: BRG, Bduke, Bender235, Brews ohare, ChemGrrl, Chmrjg, Choij, Cholerashot, Christianjb, CommonsDelinker, Crystal whacker, DMacks, Eequor, Fred Bradstadt, Gandalf61, H Padleckas, HappyCamper, Headbomb, Hellisp, Hessammehr, Jayron32, Jbom1, Karl-Henner, Linas, LuchoX, Marquez, Michael Hardy, Muskid, Physchim62, Salsb, Shaddack, TonyMath, Topbanana, V8rik, Vanished user 1234567890, Vb, على ويكر 34 anonymous edits

# **Image Sources, Licenses and Contributors**

Image:Electron orbitals.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electron\_orbitals.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Patricia.fidi

File:Electron shell 003 Lithium - no label.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/windex.php?title=File:Electron\_shell\_003\_Lithium\_-\_no\_label.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 2.0 Contributors: Pumbaa (original work by Greg Robson)

Image:S1M0.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:S1M0.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Dhatfield

Image:S2M0.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:S2M0.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Dhatfield

Image:P2M0.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:P2M0.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Dhatfield

Image:P2M1.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/windex.php?title=File:P2M1.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Dhatfield

Image:P2M-1.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:P2M-1.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Dhatfield

Image:Klechkowski rule 2.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Klechkowski\_rule\_2.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: Sharayanan

Image:Periodic Table 2.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Periodic\_Table\_2.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Roshan220195

File:Symbol book class2.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Symbol\_book\_class2.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 2.5 Contributors: Lokal\_Profil

File:Empty-Lattice-Approximation-FCC-bands.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Empty-Lattice-Approximation-FCC-bands.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Eg-T2g

Image:Hartree-Fock.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hartree-Fock.png License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Edsanville

File:c60 isosurface.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:C60\_isosurface.png License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Itamblyn

File:T1 vs NIST Expiremental Heat of Formation.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:T1\_vs\_NIST\_Expiremental\_Heat\_of\_Formation.png License: Creative Commons Zero Contributors: Chemprofguy

File: Charakter H2Oa.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File: Charakter H2Oa.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User: Muskid Image: MO Diagram.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File: MO\_Diagram.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: S. Hessam Moosavi Mehr (talk)

# License

Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 //creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/